AGREEMENT

Between the

Dennis-Yarmouth Regional School Committee

And the

Dennis-Yarmouth Educators Association



September 1, 2015 – August 31, 2018

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Preamble	3
Article I. Recognition	4
Article II. Negotiation Procedure and Duration	4
Article III. Committee Rights	4
Article IV. Grievance Arbitration	5
Article V. Class Size	7
Article VI. Hours and Work Load	7
Article VII. Non-teaching Duties	11
Article VIII. Bargaining unit member assignment	12
Article IX. Vacancies and Promotions	13
Article X. Initial Employment	13
Article XI. Substitutes	14
Article XII. Sick Leave	15
Article XIII. Leave of Absence with Pay	17
Article XIV. Leave of Absence Without Pay	19
Article XV. Child-bearing and Child-rearing Leave	20
Article XVI. Payroll Deduction	21
Article XVII. Insurance	22
Article XVIII. Sabbatical Leave	24
Article XIX. Safety, Health and Injury	25
Article XX. Bargaining Unit Member Transfers	25
Article XXI. Savings Clause	26
Article XXII. Resolution of Differences by Peaceful Means	26
Article XXIII. Positions in Summer School and Evening School	26
Article XXIV. Bargaining Unit Member Evaluation	27
Article XXV. Use of School Facilities	30
Article XXVI. Bargaining Unit Member Discipline-Professional Teacher Status	31
Article XX VII. Professional Consultation	32
Article XXVIII. Non-discrimination	32
Article XXIX. Curriculum Development	33
Article XXX. Association Business Leave	33
Article XXXI. Notices and Announcements	33
Article XXXII. Pourse Reimbursement	34
Article XXXII. Coaching Assignments and Salaries	34
Article XXXIV. Reduction in Force	35
	39
Article XXXV. Part-time Bargaining Unit Member Status Article XXXVI. Salaries	39 44
Article XXXVII. Travel Allowance	48
	48
Article XXXVIII. Comprehensive Teacher Induction Program Article XXXIX. Home School Communications	48 49
Appendix A. Bargaining Unit Member Salary Schedule	51
Appendix B. Coaching Salary Schedule	57 59
Appendix C. Co-Curricular Salaries	58
Appendix D. Differentials	60
Appendix E. Other Items	61
Appendix F. Using Course Reimbursement Accounts for Workshops to Earn PDPs/CEUs	61

Preamble

- A. Under the laws of Massachusetts, the Dennis-Yarmouth Regional School District Committee has final responsibility for establishing the educational policies for the school within its jurisdiction.
- B. The School Committee reserves as its own prerogative all the powers and duties conferred on it and vested in it by current Massachusetts statutes. This Agreement is intended to comply with all federal and Massachusetts laws.
- C. The Superintendent of Schools of the Dennis-Yarmouth Regional School District has the responsibility for carrying out the policies so established.
- D. The teaching staff of the Dennis-Yarmouth Regional School District has the responsibility for providing education of the highest possible quality.
- E. Fulfillment of these respective responsibilities can be facilitated and supported by consultations and free exchange of views and information among the Committee, the Superintendent, and the bargaining unit members in the formulation and application of policies relating to wages, hours, and other conditions of employment for the bargaining unit members.
- F. Bargaining unit members, while employed by the Committee, shall affirm and accept their responsibility to practice their profession according to the highest ethical standards. They shall recognize the supreme importance of the pursuit of truth, and encouragement of scholarship and the promotion of good citizenship. They shall regard as essential to these goals the protection of freedom to learn and to teach and the guarantee of equal educational opportunity for all. They shall, by precept and example, endeavor to cultivate habits of social refinement and shall to the best of their ability, govern those in their charge with kindness, consideration, and respect. Bargaining unit members are urged to give their attention to the morals and manners of those in their charge and so,
- G. To give effect to these declarations, the following principles and procedures are hereby adopted:

Article I. Recognition

For the purposes of collective bargaining with respect to wages, hours, and other conditions of employment and the negotiation of collective bargaining agreements, the Committee hereby recognizes the Association as the exclusive collective bargaining representative of all teachers, library teachers, consulting teachers of reading, ELL teachers, school psychologists, guidance counselors, guidance directors, social workers, nurses, curriculum team leaders, speech/language pathologists, literacy coordinators, occupational therapist, physical therapist, academic coaches, reading recovery teacher leader, and all other employees, but excluding principals, assistant principals, doctors, teacher aides and all other employees not within the limits described below. Herein all members recognized in this clause shall be referred to as bargaining unit members.

Article II. Negotiation Procedure and Duration

Section 2.1. The provisions of this Agreement will be effective as of September 1, 2015, and will continue in full force and effect until August 31, 2018. If negotiations for a successor Agreement are not completed by August 31, 2018, the terms of the existing Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.

Section 2.2. The Committee agrees to enter into negotiations with the Association over a successor Agreement concerning bargaining unit members' wages, hours, and other conditions of employment on or before November 1, 2017.

Article III. Committee Rights

Section 3.1. The Dennis-Yarmouth Regional School District Committee is a public body established under and with the powers provided by the General Laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts. Except as specifically abridged or modified by a term or provision of this Agreement, nothing in this Agreement shall derogate from the powers and responsibilities of the Committee under the General Laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts.

Section 3.2. Unless modified or changed by a specific written provision of this Agreement, the Committee retains those rights, powers and duties it now has, may be granted or have conferred upon it by law and the exercise of such rights shall be final and binding. Because the Education Reform Act of 1993 delegates certain powers directly to superintendents and principals, the term "Committee" as used in this Agreement includes the superintendent and principals where the context so requires or permits under the Education Reform Act.

Section 3.3. An arbitrator shall have no power to render a decision or substitute his judgment for that of the Committee in those areas reserved for the discretion of the Committee by this Agreement or where the Committee's decision is final and binding under this Agreement. The arbitrator shall have power to render a decision only on an interpretation or application of one of the specifically expressed provisions of the Agreement.

Article IV. Grievance Arbitration

- **Section 4.1.** A grievance is defined as a dispute, claim or controversy by the Association, an employee or employees concerning rates of pay, hours or working conditions, or the interpretation or application of the specific terms of this Agreement.
- **Section 4.2.** The purpose of the procedure set forth hereinafter is to produce prompt and equitable solutions to grievances. The parties agree that as much information as is needed to process grievances equitably shall be presented at the various levels of the grievance procedure. The information should include the names of bargaining unit members affected by the alleged grievance as well as documentation that are helpful to the parties.
- **Section 4.3.** Any decision not appealed to the next step of the grievance procedure in accordance with the time limits hereinafter set forth in the various provisions shall be considered withdrawn and not subject to further appeal.
- **Section 4.4.** An aggrieved party must institute proceedings hereunder within fifteen (15) school days of the event or events giving rise to the grievance or within fifteen (15) days from the date the aggrieved party had knowledge or reasonably should have had knowledge of the event or events giving rise to the grievance.
- **Section 4.5.** The time limits indicated herein will be considered maxima unless extended by mutual agreement in writing. All time limits shall be school days.
- **Section 4.6.** Nothing herein contained shall be construed to prevent any person from informally discussing any matter in such person's interest with his supervisor, the Administration or the Committee.
- **Section 4.7.** If any employee covered by this Agreement shall present any grievance without representation by the Association, the disposition, if any, of the grievance shall be consistent with the provisions of this Agreement.

Section 4.8. Procedure.

LEVEL ONE. A bargaining unit member shall discuss the grievance with the Department Head or Administrator whose action or decision is being grieved within fifteen (15) days of the date on which the bargaining unit member had knowledge or reasonably should have had knowledge of the occurrence. Any meeting with reference to the above shall be held at a mutually acceptable time.

LEVEL TWO. In the event the aggrieved is not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance at Level One, the grievance shall be reduced to writing and referred to the Principal or Administrator who participated in the Level One grievance, within ten (10) school days.

LEVEL THREE. Superintendent. In the event the aggrieved is not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance at Level Two, or in the event no decision has been reached within ten (10) days

after the presentation of the grievance, it shall be referred by the aggrieved employee within ten (10) days of the disposition to the Superintendent of Schools.

LEVEL FOUR. In the event the grievance shall not have been satisfactorily resolved at the Superintendent's level above, or no decision has been rendered within ten (10) school days, the grievance shall be referred in writing to the School Committee within ten (10) days. The School Committee shall hear the grievance at the next regularly scheduled meeting and shall issue its decision in writing within ten (10) days following that meeting. At the School Committee level all grievances shall be heard in executive session unless the Committee and the Association agree otherwise. The date and starting time of the meeting on contract grievances between the parties shall be mutually agreed upon.

LEVEL FIVE.

- A. When the grievance involves the violation of a specific term and/or provision of this Agreement, and if such grievance shall not have been satisfactorily resolved at Level Four, the Association may refer the unsettled grievance to arbitration in writing within fifteen (15) school days after the decision of the School Committee. Selection of an arbitrator shall be made in accordance with the rules and regulations of the American Arbitration Association.
- B. The arbitrator will issue his decision not later than thirty (30) calendar days from the date of the close of hearings or, if oral hearings have been waived, then from the date the final statements and briefs are submitted to him. The arbitrator's decision will be in writing and will set forth his findings of fact; reasoning and conclusions on the issues submitted and shall be final and binding on the parties.
- C. The arbitrator's fee, including per diem expenses, if any, and actual and necessary travel and subsistence expenses, will be borne equally by the Committee and the Association.
- D. Any meeting with reference to the grievance procedure shall not interfere with a bargaining unit member's scheduled duties or responsibilities. The parties may agree to conduct any arbitration hearing during school hours.

Section 4.9. Notwithstanding any contrary provisions in this Agreement, the following shall not be subject to the grievance arbitration provisions of this Agreement:

- A. The failure or refusal by the Committee to renew the contract of, or reappoint a probationary employee.
- B. The dismissal or suspension of a probationary employee. The parties recognize that a probationary bargaining unit member who has been teaching for more than ninety (90) days in the Dennis-Yarmouth Regional School System has a right to a hearing at his request before the Committee under Massachusetts General Laws, Chapter 71, Section 42.

Article V. Class Size

Section 5.1. The Committee and the Association recognize that class size is an important factor in good education and a policy matter within the exclusive discretion of the Committee. The Committee will, whenever possible, subject to safety considerations, space availability, economic factors, and other educational and policy considerations, insure the class size of the most effective nature for both bargaining unit member and pupil. It will be the responsibility and obligation of the Committee to make the final decisions as to class size.

Section 5.2. The parties agree that the School Committee's decision as to class size and teacher-pupil ratio is final and binding and not subject to the grievance-arbitration provisions of this Agreement.

Article VI. Hours and Work Load

Section 6.1. The starting and dismissal time for students is the exclusive responsibility of the School Committee and shall be established by the School Committee.

Section 6.2. The establishment of the School Calendar is the exclusive responsibility of the School Committee and shall be established by the School Committee.

Section 6.3. Bargaining Unit Members' Work Year.

- A. Bargaining unit members' work year shall be no more than one hundred eighty-five (185) days, including the days before and the days after the regular student year. One-half day prior to the start of the student year shall be for bargaining unit members to prepare for the school year and the other half of that day shall be reserved for activities at the administration's discretion. The one (1) additional day added as of September 1, 2009 shall be a professional development day. A one-half (1/2) conference day may be scheduled during the school year by mutual agreement of the Administration and the Association. This half-day (1/2) is in addition to the half-days (1/2) mentioned in section 7 of this article. The last day of school for students shall be a half-day.
- B. The work year for bargaining unit members covered by this Agreement (other than new personnel, who may be required to attend additional orientation sessions) will begin no earlier than the Tuesday preceding Labor Day and will end no later than June 30. The Friday before Labor Day will not be a workday.
- C. Services required of any bargaining unit members beyond the school year set out above and which are directly related to the regular school curriculum, shall be compensated at an hourly rate. Such hourly rate shall be set by this contract. This section shall not apply to Summer School, Community Education and Adult Education programs.
- D. Bargaining unit members shall schedule parent conferences at the request of the

administration. Such conferences will be held at a mutually agreeable time. Additional conferences at the request of a parent or on the bargaining unit members own initiative shall be scheduled at a mutually agreeable time.

- E. In order to provide greater flexibility to both the district and academic coaches, the district may modify the work year of bargaining unit members who serve as academic coaches in order to take into account their differing schedules and demands, subject to the following conditions: the number of workdays shall remain no more than one hundred eighty-five (185); where the district modifies the work year of an academic coach to include time off during normal school days and reschedules those days during summer or vacation periods, such modification shall be by mutual agreement of the academic coach and the district; and, the academic coach will receive at least one (1) month's notice of the change in work year.
- F. Bargaining unit members new to the district shall attend no more than two extra days before the start of school for orientation purposes.

Section 6.4. Bargaining Unit Members' Work Day.

A. The bargaining unit member's work day will extend fifteen (15) minutes beyond the student's school day as set forth below. At least five (5) of those minutes will occur prior to the beginning of the student day. With advance notification, the administration may adjust the starting and ending times for professional staff on an annual basis, however, no modification or adjustment will increase the length of the work day for professional staff. The student's school day shall commence at the tardy bell and end at dismissal time and shall be as follows:

(1) Elementary Schools	Six (6) hours and fifteen (15) minutes.
(2) Middle Schools	Six (6) hours and fifteen (15) minutes.
(3) High School	Six (6) hours and forty-two (42) minutes.

High school teachers will receive an annual stipend of Four Hundred Dollars (\$400.00) to be paid in a lump sum at the end of the school year.

B. Bargaining unit members are expected to remain as long after the students' dismissal time as is necessary to carry out the professional responsibilities expected of them. Where determined by the bargaining unit members involved or referred by the principal, bargaining unit members will be available for extra help and assistance to students and performing IDEA team evaluations. In addition, the Administration may schedule faculty meetings for the purpose of discussing relevant educational matters. Such meetings shall normally not exceed one (1) hour in duration. There will be no more than twenty-eight (28) such meetings per school year except in extraordinary circumstances. Bargaining unit members will have input as to whether faculty meetings are scheduled for the a.m. or p.m. Any staff members who miss a faculty, district or department meeting shall be

responsible for familiarizing themselves with any materials covered during the meeting(s) that they miss and shall complete and submit to the building principal a meeting absence form. The parties will discuss and agree on the contents of the meeting absence form.

- C. Bargaining unit members will have a duty-free lunch period of at least thirty (30) minutes. Every effort will be made to schedule bargaining unit members' lunch periods during student lunch time. Where bargaining unit members' lunch periods cannot be scheduled during student lunch time, the assignment of bargaining unit members' lunch periods to other times will be made on a fair and equitable basis.
- D. Teachers shall have at least 250 minutes of preparation time weekly. It is understood and agreed that the preparation period must be at least thirty (30) minutes in duration in order to count toward the weekly 250 minutes provided. Teachers shall receive a preparation period in at least four out of five school days per week.

The purpose of the preparation period is to enable teachers to enhance the performance of their assigned duties and to use their professional skills. Work performed during preparation time must be directly related to the teachers' assigned responsibilities. Travel time shall not be used as preparation time.

E. All bargaining unit members shall attend two evening meetings per school year, including the open house.

Section 6.5. Teaching Load

- A. High School: In order to accommodate the variety of schedules and structures, the parties acknowledge that the number of teaching minutes will not exceed two hundred ninety (290) minutes in any given day, with an average of no more than two hundred sixty-five (265) minutes daily over the course of the year. Teachers will teach an average of five (5) periods per day a semester in a seven (7) period schedule, or an average of six (6) periods per day a semester in an eight (8) period schedule, whenever possible.
- B. Middle School: In order to accommodate the variety of schedules and structures, the parties acknowledge that the number of teaching minutes will not exceed an average of two hundred fifty (250) minutes in any given day. Teachers will teach an average of no more than six (6) periods a day, whenever possible.
- C. Bargaining unit members may, at their request, and with the permission of the school principal, exchange any administrative duties for teaching duties on an equal time basis.
- D. A traditional teaching period does not include tutorial, exploratory, or enrichment programs which are defined and limited as follows:

- 1. Tutorial classes of nine (9) students or less of either an accelerated or remedial nature which the student takes in addition to his regularly scheduled subject. No teacher shall be required to teach a non-traditional tutorial class for more than two out of four marking periods per year.
- 2. Exploratory or enrichment classes will consist of those areas not normally available to the student during the regular school day. Exploratory or enrichment classes differ from traditional classes in that little or no homework or outside class work will be assigned and students will not receive grades.
- E. Disagreements concerning classification of tutorial, exploratory or enrichment classes will be subject to the grievance procedure.
- F. Teachers who are requested to teach an additional class or additional classes over and above these maximum teaching loads during the workday will be compensated at the rate set by this contract. This section shall not apply to Summer School, Evening School or Community Education Programs. Teachers so requested shall not be required to teach these additional classes (over maximum teaching load) and they shall not be penalized by their failure or refusal to teach such additional periods.
- G. Acceptance of extra-curricular assignments shall be voluntary. These positions shall be posted and filled annually.
- H. Any regular classroom teacher who believes that his/her workload is unfair or inequitable relative to similarly situated teachers because of the inclusion of students with disabilities in the teacher's classroom may meet with the principal to discuss the matter. The president of the Association or his/her designee may accompany the teacher to the meeting at the teacher's request. The inclusion of students with disabilities in a teacher's classroom is not subject to the grievance or arbitration provisions of this Agreement.

Section 6.6. Exceptions to Section 6.5 may be made if the School Committee deems that valid circumstances related to the education of students indicate that changes are warranted. Except in the case of emergency, the Association will be notified prior to the change so that the parties may discuss the proposed change in an effort to reach a mutually agreeable result. Unless the parties mutually agree otherwise, any change will not increase a bargaining unit member's annual basic work load. The specific issue of a bargaining unit member's annual basic work load shall be subject to grievance and arbitration procedures.

Section 6.7. Release Days

A. Elementary school level teachers will be granted two one-half (1/2) day release periods in each of those marking periods where scheduled conferences with

parents are required by the administration. Additional released time may be scheduled by the Superintendent. Teachers will be required to schedule sufficient time for afternoon and evening meetings to accommodate the parents' choice as to conference hour.

B. High school teachers will be granted one (1) half-day of release time following completion of mid-year exams for the purpose of correcting papers and calculating /recording grades, with that time incorporated into the student academic year.

Article VII. Non-Teaching Duties

Section 7.1. The Committee and the Association acknowledge that a bargaining unit member's primary responsibility is the education of students and to the extent possible and practicable, the bargaining unit member's energy should be utilized to this end.

Section 7.2. Accordingly, bargaining unit members will not be required to perform the following assignments:

- A. Bargaining unit members will not be required to drive pupils to and from activities, which take place away from the school building.
- B. Keeping registers and cumulative record cards and transcribing data on to students' permanent records.
- C. Administration of eye or ear examinations, weighing and measuring pupils.
- D. Lavatory supervision for a substantial period.
- **Section 7.3.** Bargaining unit members will be designated to perform cafeteria, recess, and, at the high school and middle schools study hall supervision, duties which will be rotated on a fair and equitable basis. Bargaining unit members will be permitted to exchange such duties after notification to the building principal.
 - A. Cafeteria and recess duties for grades K-5 will be done by aides except when an aide is absent and no substitute is reasonably available.

Section 7.4. Bargaining unit members may leave the building during duty-free lunch period time provided the practice is not abused and a responsible person in the office is notified prior to departure.

Section 7.5.

A. One (1) day of lesson plans shall be readily available for the substitute teacher in the case when a teacher is out.

- B. Provided that obligations for planning time and duty-free lunch are met, certified professionals in grades 6-12 can be assigned other student supervisory duties that do not require planning, such as hall duty, cafeteria duty, internal suspension room duty, student support center, bus duty, and emergency team duty within the teacher work day.
- C. Teachers shall be required to respond to parent telephone calls, e-mails, or other messages within two (2) school days of receipt as long as a telephone is available. The district agrees to provide and identify a district phone(s) in a private area for making such calls.
- D. Teachers shall make every effort to keep parents updated if there is a significant drop in a student's grade, performance or behavior.
- E. Teachers shall designate one day per week on which they shall make themselves available after school for student assistance. Said day shall be designated by no later than the first student day of the school year for Grades 6-12.

Article VIII. Bargaining Unit Member Assignment

- **Section 8.1.** Bargaining unit members, other than newly appointed bargaining unit members, will be notified by the principal or department head of the grades and/or subjects that they will teach, and any special or unusual classes that they will have for the coming school year, as soon as practicable and under normal circumstances not later than August 1.
- **Section 8.2.** The Association shall encourage bargaining unit members to finalize retirement and/or resignation decisions and notify the Administration of such decisions by April 1.
- **Section 8.3.** In order to assure that pupils are taught by bargaining unit members working within their areas of competence, bargaining unit members will not be assigned outside the scope of their teaching certificates and/or their major or minor fields of study, except as waived by the Massachusetts Department of Education and as agreed to by the bargaining unit members and committee.
- **Section 8.4.** To the extent possible, changes in subject assignment will be voluntary.
- **Section 8.5.** To the extent required by law, teaching assignments will be made without regard to race, creed, color, religion, nationality, sex, age, marital status or sexual orientation.
- **Section 8.6.** Teaching assignments shall not be subject to the grievance and arbitration provisions of this Agreement unless the action of the administration is arbitrary or capricious.

Article IX. Vacancies and Promotions

Section 9.1. The filling of vacancies within the Dennis-Yarmouth Regional School System is the responsibility of the Principal with the approval of the Superintendent.

Section 9.2. Whenever a vacancy occurs in either an established or newly-created position during the school year (September to June), it will be adequately publicized by means of notices placed on faculty bulletin boards as soon as the vacancy occurs. Vacancies resulting after August 1 may be filled without posting. The responsibility shall rest with the individual bargaining unit members to indicate an interest in any possible vacancy which may occur during the summer, and bargaining unit members desiring to be notified of vacancies occurring during the summer shall leave a self-addressed, stamped envelope at the Administration Office. Vacancies which occur in the Adult Education and Summer School programs will be posted on faculty bulletin boards.

Section 9.3. All such notices shall set forth the specifications and qualifications for the position and the date by which application shall be filed with the Superintendent. Notice of such vacancy shall remain posted for ten (10) days before applications are closed.

Section 9.4. An opening will not be publicized but will be posted and, the Association notified when, in the judgment of the principal, it may be filled by a person on leave of absence from the Dennis-Yarmouth Regional Public Schools.

Section 9.5. The filling of vacancies, including advancements or promotions, shall be based upon the principal's judgment as to what will best serve the interests of the students and the principal will give due consideration to certification, the professional background (attainment), knowledge, ability, skill, efficiency, and attendance.

Whenever the above factors are equal in the judgment of the principal, preference will be given to, bargaining unit members already employed by the principal.

It is recognized that the final decision as to the filling of vacancies and promotions must rest with the principal and that the principal's decision will not be subject to the arbitration provisions of this Agreement.

Section 9.6. Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent the principal, subject to the approval of the superintendent or the Administration from making acting appointments in the best interests of the educational needs of the system until positions can be filled with permanent appointments.

Article X. Initial Employment

Section 10.1. At initial employment, a bargaining unit members shall be given credit, not to exceed twelve (12) years, for all valid prior teaching experience in public or private elementary or secondary schools, colleges, or universities except that the superintendent may at his or her option place a newly-hired bargaining unit member who has more than five (5) years of valid

prior teaching experience on any step not lower than Step 5.

Section 10.2. In the event that a bargaining unit member has prior valid teaching experience but such prior experience includes years with less than a full year's experience, the Committee shall give credit for only one year of such experience if it is more than ninety (90) days in a single year.

Article XI. Substitutes

Section 11.1. In the event that the regular teacher is absent, the Committee agrees to make a reasonable effort to provide a qualified substitute teacher. An exception to this may be made in the event a group of teachers working together wish no substitute providing the particular school principal is in agreement.

Substitute teachers shall be paid at the following rates:

After ten (10) consecutive school days for the same teacher, certified substitutes shall be placed on Step I of the Bachelors column in the salary schedule, and non-certified substitutes to be paid at a daily rate established by the School Committee. Substitute teachers will be entitled to one (1) day of sick leave for each consecutive fifteen (15) days worked after the aforementioned ten (10). It is understood and agreed that sick leave entitlement for a nonpermanent substitute teacher will be by individual assignment only and that cumulative days worked cannot be used or counted for sick leave entitlement in a subsequent assignment.

Section 11.2. Permanent substitutes are those appointed by the principal for a definite period of time, not less than one-half the school year to fill a vacancy

- A. created by a leave absence;
- B. created by a regular teacher's leaving after the school year has commenced;
- C. in a position which will not be authorized during the next school year.

The committee may choose to fill vacancies as described above by regular teachers placed on the appropriate step of the salary schedule.

Permanent substitutes will be placed on Step 1 of the salary guide starting from the first day of appointment and will be entitled to:

- A. receive a pro-rated share of the District's contribution to the Health and Accident plans outlined in Section 17.1.
- B. pro-rated non-accumulated sick leave based on the length of appointment.
- C. benefits contained in Section 13.1, pro-rated to the length of each individual

assignment.

D. the full benefit of bereavement leave as outlined in Section 13.3.

Section 11.3. Whenever possible, teachers will be responsible for doing the planning required for short-term substitutes. Such planning will consist of a one day emergency lesson plan to be kept at school and specific directions to the short term substitute as to the department head or administrator to contact regarding future planning.

Article XII. Sick Leave

Section 12.1. Every bargaining unit member covered by this Agreement shall be granted an annual leave of fifteen (15) days for absence caused by illness or injury. In the event that the employee does not work a full school year, the number of allowed annual leave days will be prorated, with prorating to be at a rate of 1.5 days per month from September through June.

Section 12.2.

- A. Unused sick leave not used in the year of service for which it is granted, shall accumulate from year to year without limitation for use by the bargaining unit members to cover the bargaining unit member's own incapacitation due to illness or injury, including doctors' appointments and diagnostic hospital visits which are impossible to schedule during non-working hours and serious illness in the bargaining unit member's immediate family as set forth in Section 13.2.
- B. In the case of bargaining unit members who commence employment on or after September 1, 1975, there shall be a limitation of two hundred (200) days on the accumulation of sick leave for the purpose of payment on death, retirement or separation, as set out in Section 12.7 herein.
- C. For the purpose of payment set out in Section 12.7 herein, bargaining unit members employed prior to September 1, 1975, may in addition to the maximum two hundred (200) days set out above in Section 12.2(b), receive additional payment for those unused sick leave days which payment was required under the particular Agreement existing on September 1, 1975, by which they were covered.
- **Section 12.3.** Sick leave with pay is primarily intended to cover the employee's own incapacitation due to illness or injury. As used in this Article, incapacitation means the inability of an employee to perform the material duties of his or her employment. Sick leave with pay may be used for serious illness in the employee's immediate family as set forth in Section 13. 3.

Section 12.4. In those cases where excessive absenteeism because of claimed illness occurs, the Committee may require verification of illness by a physician. Such verification will be conducted at the Committee's expense by a physician mutually agreed to by the Committee and bargaining unit member involved. The bargaining unit members will not be charged with a sick leave day or

a personal day of the claimed illness is verified by a physician. In addition, in cases of absence of more than ten consecutive school days, the Committee may request a statement from the bargaining unit member's physician certifying that the bargaining unit member was unable to perform his or her school responsibilities.

Section 12.5. A bargaining unit member who is otherwise able to work will not receive sick leave benefits for absence during maternity leave. The need to nurse the baby does not qualify as sick leave if the mother would otherwise be able to work.

Section 12.6. Sick Leave Bank.

- A. Effective September 1, 1976, a sick leave bank for use by eligible members of the bargaining unit who have exhausted their own sick leave and who have serious illness or injury causing disability was established.
- B. The initial grant of sick leave by the sick leave bank committee to an eligible employee shall not exceed thirty (30) days.
- C. Upon completion of the thirty (30) day period, the period of entitlement may be extended by the sick leave bank committee thirty (30) days at a time upon demonstration of need by the applicant.
- D. Any sick leave granted any individual under the provisions of this Section shall expire at the end of the applicable school year.
- E. The sick leave bank shall be administered by a sick leave bank committee consisting of four members designated by the Committee and four members designated by the Association. No more than fifty percent of the members of the sick leave bank committee shall be newly appointed in a given year. A majority vote of the full sick leave bank committee is required to grant sick leave from the bank. The sick leave bank committee shall determine the eligibility for the use of the bank and the amount of leave to be granted. Decisions of the sick leave bank committee are final and binding and not subject to appeal or the grievance-arbitration procedure. The following criteria shall be used by the sick leave bank committee in administering the bank and in determining eligibility and amount of leave.
 - 1. Adequate medical evidence of serious illness;
 - 2. Prior utilization of all eligible sick leave; and
 - 3. Amount of sick leave previously granted from the sick leave bank.
- F. When unused sick leave bank days reach one-third (a) of the original contribution (made effective September 1, 1976) all bargaining unit members covered by this Agreement will be assessed an additional day which will be deducted from their

- fifteen (15) annual sick leave.
- G. All sick leave days borrowed from the sick leave bank by a bargaining unit members will be repaid and deducted from sick leave accumulation before payment to the unit member for any unused accumulated sick leave under Section VII of this Article. That is, if a bargaining unit member is eligible for payment of unused sick leave upon death, retirement or separation under Section 12.7 herein, any days borrowed from the sick leave bank must be repaid and thus deducted from payment.
- H. The maximum number of days bargaining unit members shall be granted by the sick leave bank committee in a given year is 185 days.
- **Section 12.7.** Upon death, retirement or separation, a bargaining unit member who has served (10) years in the Dennis-Yarmouth Regional School District, the bargaining unit member (or, bargaining unit member's estate) shall receive pay for all unused accumulated sick leave at the rate specified in the Appendix of this contract per day (for such unused sick leave days) with the maximum limitations set forth in Sections 12.2(b), 12.2(c), and 12.6(g) above. In the event that a bargaining unit member provides the Superintendent's office with firm written notice by no later than October 30th of a school year of his/her intent to retire at the end of that same school year, and the bargaining unit member actually does retire at the end of the school year, the bargaining unit employee shall receive Two Hundred Fifty Dollars (\$250.00) in addition to any other sick leave buyback to which he/she may be entitled.
- **Section 12.8.** The use of sick leave for purposes other than those set out in Section 12.3 above shall be unauthorized and shall constitute a breach of contract and the School Committee shall be entitled to initiate dismissal proceedings or take any other appropriate action.
- **Section 12.9.** During any part of a calendar day while on sick leave, bargaining unit members may not be gainfully employed. Any such employment while on sick leave will constitute grounds for dismissal proceedings.
- **Section 12.10.** Bargaining unit members with professional teacher status who are terminated on account of a reduction in force caused by a decline in student enrollment will receive pay for all unused sick leave days in accordance with the provision of Section 12.7 above.

Article XIII. Leave of Absence with Pay

- **Section 13.1.** A full-time member of the bargaining unit covered by this Agreement will be allowed up to a total of five (5) days leave of absence without loss of pay in any one (1) school year for the following reasons:
 - A. Religious Holidays. Observance of religious holidays not regularly included in the school district holiday schedule. Advance notification to the principal of the building in which the bargaining unit members employed are a prerequisite to the granting of leave for religious observance.

- B. Professional Days. With the approval of the Superintendent of Schools (or his designee) professional days for the purpose of visiting other schools or attending meetings or conferences of an educational nature or serving on an accreditation team may be granted to members of the bargaining unit. Days taken at the request of the Superintendent shall not be deducted from bargaining unit member's five (5) days listed in Article 13.1. Request for such leave must be made in writing to the Superintendent at least one week in advance and no more than three (3) bargaining unit members at any one time will be granted such a professional day.
- C. Up to three (3) days of personal leave per school year for the purpose of transacting important personal matters which are impossible to transact during non-school hours, or outside the bargaining unit member's work day. The following items of explanation apply:
 - 1. Personal days shall not be used for recreation or personal business associated with another position, business or other financially rewarding enterprise of the bargaining unit member or close relative as listed under critical illness.
 - 2. Requests for such leave, must be made in writing to the administration as soon as possible, and, except in the case of emergency, not less than forty-eight hours in advance in order to assure adequate coverage.
 - 3. Except in emergency situations, personal leave shall not be granted the scheduled work day before or after a holiday, vacation period, or other leave of absence.
 - 4. The Administration may require the bargaining unit member to complete a form certifying that the personal day has been taken and that such personal day complied in all respects with this Article.
 - 5. "Important personal matter" is meant to cover those needs for which pay is not provided in this Agreement and not covered elsewhere in this Agreement.
 - 6. Bargaining unit members who do not use any or all of their personal days in a fiscal year shall be eligible to buy back each personal day at the rate of thirty dollars (\$30.00) for each unused personal day.
- **Section 13.2.** Related business days are those days that a bargaining unit member is required to make a court appearance in connection with school or attend to other school-related business assigned by the district. Related business days will not be deducted from a member's five (5) days as set forth in Section 13.1.
- **Section 13.3.** "Serious illness" in the immediate family. The immediate family shall be considered to include husband, wife, child, parent, brother, sister, grandparent, grandchild, and any

other member of the bargaining unit member's immediate household with whom the bargaining unit member has a significant long-term relationship and who resided with the bargaining unit member before becoming seriously ill. Such leave shall not exceed eight (8) days and shall be taken or deducted from the fifteen (15) days' sick leave provided for in Section 12.1 of this Agreement. Bargaining unit members may use such leave when his/her attendance is required to care for a member of the immediate family who is seriously ill and when no person other than the bargaining unit member is available for such purpose. Upon returning to school, the bargaining unit member shall submit in writing to the principal the reason such attendance was required. The Superintendent may require medical certification.

Serious illness, while not necessarily critical, is of urgent nature and not the casual or trivial type. Serious illness days will only be deducted from sick leave days.

Section 13.4. The Superintendent shall allow up to eight (8) school days following the death of the professional employee's spouse, significant partner, child, mother, father, sibling, grandmother, grandfather, aunt, uncle, niece, nephew, grandchild, daughter-in-law, son-in-law, mother-in-law, father-in-law, sister-in-law, brother-in-law, grand-parents-in-law, or other members of the immediate household. At the discretion of the Superintendent, any part of the eight (8) days that are not used consecutively following the death of said person may be used for funeral and/or memorial service matters.

Section 13.5. Additionally, one day may be taken at the discretion of the employee for the death of a friend, with this day being taken from the professional employee's accumulated sick days. Additional days with pay may be granted at the sole discretion of the Superintendent. Any additional days granted at the discretion of the Superintendent will be treated as bereavement days (not sick days). This section will not be subject to the grievance and arbitration procedure.

Section 13.6. A bargaining unit member required to serve on Jury Duty and thus absent from regular work duty shall, upon application, be paid the difference between regular compensation from the district and compensation received for Jury Duty upon presentation of certification of compensation paid by the court. Travel allowance is not included in the compensation paid by the court.

Article XIV. Leave of Absence Without Pay

Section 14.1. A leave of absence without pay or increment of up to one year may be granted to bargaining unit members with professional teacher status for the purpose of caring for a sick member of the bargaining unit member's immediate family or household.

Section 14.2. A leave of absence without pay or increment up to one (1) year may be granted to bargaining unit members with professional teacher status whose personal illness extends beyond the period compensated by sick leave.

Section 14.3. Military leave will be granted in accordance with applicable federal and state law.

Section 14.4. Other leaves of absence without pay or increment may be granted by the

superintendent to members of the bargaining unit at the exclusive discretion of the superintendent whose decision shall be final and binding.

Section 14.5. A leave of absence without pay will be granted for the observance of those religious holidays not regularly included in the school system holiday schedule or calendar and for which Section 13.1(b) cannot be utilized.

Section 14.6. It is recognized that no specific position can be held open during any leave but in all instances reasonable efforts will be made to assign the bargaining unit member to the same position which the bargaining unit member held at the time the leave commenced. If the position is not available then reasonable efforts will be made to assign the bargaining unit member to a substantially equivalent position.

Article XV. Child-bearing and Child-rearing Leave

Section 15.1. A bargaining unit member who becomes pregnant will notify the Superintendent in writing as soon as possible but in no event less than four (4) weeks before the commencement of such leave, stating the anticipated dates of departure and return.

Such notification shall provide the Administration with as much opportunity as possible to secure a replacement bargaining unit member and insure continuity of assignments.

Section 15.2. The pregnant bargaining unit member may continue in her assigned position as long as her physical condition and ability to perform her assigned duties allow. The Committee may require such medical evidence of the bargaining unit member's ability to continue employment as it may require when questioning the health of a bargaining unit member in a non-maternity related situation.

Section 15.3. Pregnancy-related disabilities shall be treated like other temporary disabilities such as auto accidents, illnesses, or heart attacks. Bargaining unit members on maternity leave will shift from sick leave to leave without pay at that time during the leave when the bargaining unit member would otherwise be physically able to return. (See Sick Leave Section.) (For adoptive female parents, the use of paid maternity leave will be permitted with a doctor's authorization, just as in other cases of paid maternity leave.)

Section 15.4. The bargaining unit member may choose to return:

- A. As soon as possible, if less than eight (8) weeks;
- B. After eight calendar weeks, and in the event the birth takes place during a vacation period, the eight-week period will commence on the day of birth;
- C. At the start of the next school year after the completion of the eight-week period;
- D. If the leave commences after February 1, it will terminate with the return of the

staff member for the opening of school the following September or the next September after that.

The choice of options is to be made at the commencement of the leave.

Section 15.5. If either Option Four (a) or (b) is selected, the bargaining unit member will return to the position held at the commencement of the leave. If Option (c) or (d) is selected, the bargaining unit member will be assigned to a similar grade level or position which she held at the time the leave commenced.

Section 15.6. When applicable, increment credit on the salary guide will be given to bargaining unit members who actually work more than ninety (90) days including the time for which sick leave benefits are paid.

Section 15.7. Other bargaining unit members not eligible for maternity leave may request an unpaid leave of absence for up to twelve months for the purpose of child-rearing. The decision of the School Committee will be final and not subject to the grievance/arbitration provisions of this Agreement.

Article XVI. Payroll Deduction

Section 16.1. The Committee agrees to deduct from the salaries of its bargaining unit members dues for the Dennis-Yarmouth Educators Association, Massachusetts Teachers' Association, and the National Education Association. Written requests on appropriate forms must be filed with the Committee by the third Monday of October.

Section 16.2. The Association will certify to the Committee in writing the current rate of membership dues. The Association shall give the Committee thirty (30) days written notice prior to the effective date of change of membership dues.

Section 16.3. Deduction shall be made in installments on specified payroll periods. The Committee will not be required to honor for any month's deduction any change in authorizations that are delivered to it later than three weeks prior to the pay day when the deductions are to be made.

Section 16.4. The Committee shall send all dues thus collected and accumulated to the Association Treasurer.

Section 16.5. In order to provide for a non-forfeitable tax-sheltered annuity, payable upon retirement or termination of employment, a bargaining unit member may contract with the Committee pursuant to Section 37B of Chapter 71 of the General Laws of Massachusetts for purchase of such annuity as part of his or her employment compensation. Such contract shall specify the premium to be paid toward the annuity and the benefits payable there under.

Section 16.6. The Committee agrees to deduct from the salaries of bargaining unit members who have on file with the Committee an authorization card, an amount specified for the purchasing of

shares or repaying a loan from one credit union designated by the Association.

Section 16.7. Agency Service Fee. The Committee shall require, as a condition of employment during the term of this Agreement, that employees who are not members of the Association pay a service fee to the Association. Payment of this service fee must be made within thirty (30) days after an employee begins employment or after the effective date of this Agreement, whichever is later. The amount of the service fee is equal to the amount required to become and remain a member in good standing of the Association and its affiliates to which membership fees are paid.

The Association shall comply with the requirements of Mass. Gen. Laws, Ch. 150, Sec. 12, relating to approval of imposition of an agency service fee and rebate of portions of that fee under certain conditions.

Section 16.8. The Association shall indemnify and save or hold the Committee harmless against all claims, demands, suits or other form of liability, which may arise by reason of any action taken pursuant to this Article.

Section 16.9. V.O.T.E. Within sixty (60) days of the execution of this Agreement, the District will vote to accept the provisions of Massachusetts General Laws chapter 180, section 171. Bargaining unit members may authorize the District to deduct from their salary a contribution to Voice of Teachers for Education of an amount, which the employee shall specify in writing. The District will certify on the payroll the amount to be deducted by the District Treasurer. Such amounts shall be transmitted to the Massachusetts Teachers Association within thirty days.

Section 16.10. Effective September 1, 2015, all bargaining unit members shall be required to use direct deposit to receive their paycheck with written confirmation via email receipt.

Article XVII. Insurance

Section 17.1. The District's contribution to the Health and Accident plans shall be sixty (60) percent of the total cost.

Section 17.2. Upon retirement from the Dennis-Yarmouth Regional School District, a bargaining unit member may, at his option, be included in the Health and Accident plan of the District. The District will contribute sixty (60) percent of the total cost.

Section 17.3. A comprehensive dental plan will be added to the Health and Accident plan at sixty (60) per cent District contribution.

Section 17.4. Health and accident insurance shall be available to cover dependent students of employees through age 23.

Section 17.5. Term life insurance shall be available to bargaining unit members up to \$5,000.00 with the district's contribution at sixty (60) percent of the total cost.

Section 17.6. The district shall maintain a contributory benefit plan pursuant to Section 125 of the Internal Revenue Code, in the form adopted by the Committee on 17 September 1991, providing for pre-tax payment of bargaining unit member contributions for group insurance coverage.

Section 17.7.

- A. The Association agrees that effective September 1, 2011, the following plans will replace the current health insurance offerings:
 - 1. Network Blue EPO
 - 2. Blue Care Elect Preferred PPO
 - 3. HPHC EPO
 - 4. HPHC PPO
- B. Health Reimbursement Accounts (HRA) will be established for each bargaining unit member taking health insurance through the District, with members taking the individual plan receiving \$400.00/year and members taking the family plan receiving \$1,000.00/year. The District shall fund the full amount of HRA's for bargaining unit members who take health insurance through the District. A reimbursement schedule is attached hereto as a reference.
 - 1. Reimbursable co-pay amounts shall be provided for the three years of this agreement at the FY '11 amount of \$10.
 - 2. Physical therapy, chiropractic care and any other office visits deemed necessary by the member's primary care physician or specialist shall be reimbursable each year under the HRA.
- C. In year one of this agreement, the Committee agrees to establish and fund an emergency fund in the amount of five thousand dollars (\$5,000.00) for members who are deemed to have extraordinary medical expenses. In year two of this agreement, the district shall fund the emergency fund in the amount of ten thousand dollars (\$10,000.00). In year three of this agreement, the District shall fund the emergency fund in the amount of fifteen thousand dollars (\$15,000.00). Distribution of the funds shall be determined by a joint committee comprised of an equal number of Committee and association representatives. Employees who wish to apply for funds from the emergency fund may apply on an as-needed basis and must supply documentation to support their application to the satisfaction of the joint committee. Bargaining unit members shall not be eligible for more than two thousand five hundred dollars (\$2,500.00) per year from the emergency fund.
- D. Effective September 1, 2011, the District will implement flexible spending accounts on the terms previously offered and agreed to by the Association. Said terms shall include a pre-tax maximum contribution by bargaining unit members of fifteen hundred dollars (\$1,500.00) per fiscal year. The District shall pay all administrative fees associated with the flexible spending accounts. In the event

that bargaining unit members do not spend the entire amount that they have designated for a particular contract year, they shall be able to roll over any unspent funds.

E. The Committee agrees to offer AFLAC insurance on the terms set forth in the available literature.

Article XVIII. Sabbatical Leave

Section 18.1. Upon recommendation of the Superintendent of Schools and at the discretion of the School Committee, sabbatical leave for approved study, considered to be in the interests of the school system if applied for, may be granted to the members of the bargaining unit by the School Committee after said members of the bargaining unit have served at least five (5) years in the Dennis-Yarmouth Regional School District.

Section 18.2. The granting of sabbatical leave shall be dependent on the bargaining unit member signing a contract to serve the Dennis-Yarmouth Regional School District for a period equal to twice the length of such leave and that, in default of completing such service, he/she will refund to the Dennis-Yarmouth Regional School District an amount equal to such proportion of the salary received by him while on leave as to the amount of service not actually rendered as agreed bears to the whole amount of service agreed to be rendered. Default payment shall be made within 30 days of the bargaining unit member resigning.

Section 18.3. Sabbatical leave may be granted for a maximum of one (1) year. It may be granted for less.

Section 18.4. During the period of sabbatical leave, a bargaining unit member with at least five (5) consecutive years of service will receive at least eighty (80) percent of his basic salary. During the sabbatical leave, retirement contributions and insurance contributions, based upon the salary received, will continue.

Section 18.5. Requests for sabbatical leave will be presented to the Committee, in writing, by December 15 of the previous school year. The Committee's approval or disapproval will be by January 15. Requests will state the purpose of the leave and outline a plan of action. A bargaining unit member will not be granted a second sabbatical leave until five (5) years after the date of return from the first leave.

Section 18.6. Requests for sabbatical leave will not be unreasonably denied.

Section 18.7. All decisions made pursuant to this Article shall be within the exclusive discretion of the Committee and shall be final and binding and not subject to the grievance-arbitration provisions.

Article XIX. Safety, Health and Injury

- **Section 19.1.** The Committee shall conform to all of the Massachusetts Safety Laws.
- **Section 19.2.** Any bargaining unit member who is assaulted while exercising his responsibilities as an employee of the School District shall receive due legal assistance to protect him adequately from suit. (Ref.: Chapter 513, Acts of 1964.)
- **Section 19.3.** Whenever a bargaining unit member is absent from school as a result of personal injury caused by an assault occurring in the course of his employment, s/he will be reimbursed for any loss of salary not compensated for by Workmen's Compensation for the period of such absence and will not lose sick leave.
- **Section 19.4.** The Committee will reimburse bargaining unit members for clothing and other personal property damaged or destroyed as a result of assault.
- **Section 19.5.** Workmen's Compensation insurance will be provided to cover the cost of medical, surgical, dental, or hospital services incurred as the result of injury sustained from assault, or in an accident occurring in the course of the bargaining unit member's employment.
- **Section 19.6.** All classrooms and other enclosed places where bargaining unit members and pupils assemble shall be maintained at legally-prescribed room temperature.
- **Section 19.7.** The parties will establish a joint health and safety Committee to study the issue of installing communication and safety devices in school buildings and to make recommendations to the Committee.

Article XX. Bargaining Unit Member Transfers

- **Section 20.1.** Bargaining unit members desiring to transfer from one school building to another shall file a written request for a transfer to the Superintendent or his/her designee by April 1. It is understood and agreed that if an opening does not exist on or before April 1, and if in fact the bargaining unit member indicates a desire to transfer by filing a request to transfer, the Committee will keep all such requests in an active file in anticipation of future openings and all such requests will be duly considered.
- **Section 20.2.** Subject to Section 20.1, the Committee reserves the right to reassign or transfer a bargaining unit member, voluntarily or involuntarily, temporarily, or permanently, from one school building to another in the best interest of the school system as they may determine. When a reduction in the number of bargaining unit members in a school building is necessary, consideration shall be given to qualified volunteers before transfers are made. Except in situations of emergency, any involuntary reassignment or transfer shall be made only after a meeting between the bargaining unit member involved and the Superintendent at which meeting relating or pertaining to the reassignment, or transfer, the Association will, at the bargaining unit member's request, send a representative with the bargaining unit member to meet with the

Superintendent to discuss the reassignment or transfer.

Section 20.3. Teaching transfers shall not be subject to the arbitration provisions of this Agreement unless the action of the School Committee or administration is arbitrary or capricious.

Article XXI. Savings Clause

Section 21.1. Should any of the terms and conditions of this Agreement be found to be in violation of any federal or state law, by a court of competent jurisdiction, such other provisions of this Agreement as may not be affected thereby shall remain in full force and effect for the duration of this Agreement.

Section 21.2. The School Committee's or Association's intentional or unintentional failure to enforce any provision of this Agreement will not be considered a waiver of any provision of this Agreement and will not become a practice binding on the Committee or the Association.

Article XXII. Resolution of Differences by Peaceful Means

Section 22.1. The Association and the Committee agree that differences between the parties shall be settled by peaceful means as provided within this agreement. The Association, in consideration of the value of this agreement and its terms and conditions and the legislation which engendered it, will not engage in, instigate, or condone any strike, work stoppage, or any concerted refusal to perform normal work duties on the part of any employee covered by this agreement.

Section 22.2. Employees who participate in any such activity may be disciplined or discharged as the superintendent, in his/her judgment deems proper, provided however, that an issue of fact as to whether an individual has engaged in such activities may be the subject of the grievance and arbitration procedure.

Section 22.3. The Committee agrees that, during the term of this Agreement, it will not lock out any employees covered by this Agreement, nor engage in any other interference with work.

Article XXIII. Positions in Summer School and Evening School

Section 23.1. Vacancies for summer school and fall evening school shall be posted on faculty bulletin boards (see Article IX).

Section 23.2. Positions in the summer school and evening school will be filled by those deemed to be best qualified.

Section 23.3. If, in the judgment of the Committee, qualifications are equal, preference for

positions in the summer and evening schools and positions under federal programs will be filled by regularly appointed and qualified bargaining unit members in the Dennis-Yarmouth Regional School District. The decision of the Superintendent with respect to filling positions in the summer and evening school and under federal programs shall be final and binding.

Article XXIV. Bargaining Unit Member Evaluation

Section 24.1. All evaluations shall be carried out in a constructive and professional manner. Personnel evaluation is the ongoing process of defining goals and of identifying, gathering and using information as part of a process of professional growth. Evaluation policy should focus on practical professional growth and the purposes of evaluation are to provide information for improving performance and to provide a record of facts and assessments for personnel decisions. The process ends in an evaluation report written by the evaluator. Central to the process is the dialogue which comes from the bargaining unit member and evaluator working together to improve instruction.

Section 24.2. Identification of Evaluators and Supervisors

- A. The evaluators for all bargaining unit members shall be the principal or designee. The principal may designate an assistant principal to evaluate bargaining unit members in place of, or in addition to, the principal. Persons working in more than one building will be evaluated by their "home-based" principal or designee. "Home-based" refers to the building where the bargaining unit member spends the majority of his/her time. The superintendent, the director of instruction, and the director of special services may take part directly or indirectly in the evaluation of any bargaining unit member.
- B. In this article "evaluator" means an administrator who conducts or takes part in the evaluation of a bargaining unit member.
- C. Supervisors shall not be a part of the final summative evaluation. Supervisors include coordinators and department heads. Supervisors may visit and provide supportive observation of bargaining unit members.
- D. The superintendent shall see that each evaluator receives training in the general principles of supervision and evaluation and has available to him/her expertise in the subject or area to be evaluated. All evaluations of bargaining unit members shall be according to the terms of this article.

Section 24.3. Who is Evaluated?

All bargaining unit members shall be evaluated in accordance with the process specified in the Educator Evaluation Handbook, which is printed separately from this agreement but incorporated herein by reference.

Section 24.4. The Evaluation Process

- A. State regulations on evaluation will be followed in this article. Bargaining unit members' performance will be measured by whether bargaining unit members meet the Standards and Indicators of Effective Teaching Practice Rubric adopted by the Massachusetts Board of Education, which are incorporated herein.
- B. This evaluation process is a goal-oriented activity whereby the bargaining unit member and the evaluator jointly define goals for the bargaining unit member over the year and work together to achieve the goals. This process may include peer coaching if the bargaining unit member and evaluator agree. Goals may be modified if mutually agreed upon by both parties. The Evaluator retains final authority over the content of the Educator's Plan.
 - 1. Every educator has an Educator Plan that includes, but is not limited to, one goal related to the improvement of practice; one goal for the improvement of student learning. The Plan also outlines the actions the Educator must take to attain the goals established in the Plan and benchmarks to assess progress.
 - 2. If a bargaining unit member and an evaluator cannot arrive at mutually agreed upon goals, a third party acceptable to both will be used to resolve the issue. The third party may be a peer coach if that is acceptable to the bargaining unit member and the evaluator.
 - 3. If a mutually acceptable third party cannot be found at the building level, then either the director of instruction or the director of student services may set the goals for the bargaining unit member and evaluator.
- C. Options for evaluation will follow five pathways: Developing Educator Plan, One Year Self-Directed Growth Plan, Two Year Self Directed Growth Plan, Directed Growth Plan, Improvement Plan. Guidelines for the Evaluation process will be reviewed, and disseminated annually by a joint committee of the Association and the Administration.
- D. All written classroom and summative evaluations must be based on first-hand data collected by the administrator/evaluator related to goals and/or professional Standards and Indicators of Effective Teaching Practice or on evidence that is related to the goals and standards provided by the Educator.
- E. Evaluations concerning teaching should be separate from evaluations concerning co-curricular and/or coaching activities.
- F. All summative evaluations should be summarized as Exemplary, Proficient, Needs Improvement or Unsatisfactory.

- G. Evaluators shall observe the work performance of a bargaining unit member openly and with the knowledge of the bargain unit member.
 - 1. Evaluators should provide feedback (oral and written) concerning observed activities in a timely fashion. A bargaining unit member may provide additional information on his/her performance. Evaluations should be clearly expressed, and each participant should have the opportunity to sign off for his/her comments.
 - 2. A bargaining unit member may submit a written comment in reference to any material in his/her personnel file, and his/her comment shall be reviewed by the superintendent of schools and shall be attached to the file copy concerned.
 - 3. The evaluation report must provide specific recommendations for improving performance identified as Needs Improvement or Unsatisfactory. The evaluator must provide:
 - a) specific recommendations for improvement;
 - b) assistance to implement such recommendations; and
 - c) a time schedule to monitor progress.
 - 4. In conducting evaluations, the Administration shall not discriminate against any bargaining unit member on any grounds prohibited by state and federal law.
 - 5. No public address radio system or other device permitting monitoring or observation of work performance shall be employed in the formal evaluation of a bargaining unit member's classroom performance, except with prior consent of the bargaining unit member.
 - 6. The parties affirm their desire that all employees of the District administrators, bargaining unit members, and others included treat each other with dignity and mutual respect.
 - 7. The bargaining unit member will acknowledge that he/she has had the opportunity to review the evaluation report by signing the copy to be filed. The bargaining unit member may also submit a written response to the Evaluation report. His or her response shall be reviewed by the superintendent and attached to the file.

Section 24.5. Timetable for Evaluations

Evaluation Timetable	Date
Review of Evaluation Process	September 15
Self-Assessment/Goal selection deadline	October 1
Educator Plan Deadline	November 1
Evaluator completes first observation of each Educator	December 15
Educator Evidence due (one-year plans)	January 15
Mid-cycle Formative Assessment Reports for one-year plan	February 15
Formative Assessment Meetings (if requested by either party)	February 15
Educator evidence due (one-year and two-year plans)	April 15
Summative Evaluation report and meetings for Educators with Needs	
Improvement or Unsatisfactory ratings and all one-year plans	June 1
Formative Evaluation report and meetings for Educators with Proficient or	
Exemplary ratings on two-year plans	June 10
Summative Evaluation report and meetings for Educators with Proficient or	
Exemplary ratings on two-year plans	June 10
Evaluator and Educator sign Summative Evaluation Reports	June 15

Section 24.6. Miscellaneous

- A. The reporting forms will be mutually agreed upon by the Association and Administration.
- B. The provisions of this article, including the evaluation judgment of the evaluator and/or the substance of any evaluation, shall not be subject to the arbitration procedures of this Agreement, except that a dispute or complaint as to whether the mechanical steps of the evaluation procedure have been followed will be subject to grievance procedures up to and including arbitration.

Article XXV. Use of School Facilities

Section 25.1. Subject to the consent of the principal of the building in question, the Association will have Committee approval to use school buildings without cost at reasonable times for meetings of its members. Sufficient notice in advance of the time and place of such meetings shall be given to the principal in writing.

Section 25.2. One (1) bulletin board in each building will be provided for the purpose of displaying Association notices, circulars, and other Association material in professional employees' lounges. Copies of all such material will be furnished to the building principal in advance. Advance approval is required for all non-Association material submitted by the Association, and no material, which is critical of the School Committee, or any member thereof or any member of the administration will be posted.

Article XXVI. Bargaining Unit Member Discipline - Professional Teacher Status

- **Section 26.1.** The Association recognizes the authority and responsibility of the principal for disciplining or reprimanding a bargaining unit member for delinquency of professional performance or infraction of outstanding rules and regulations. If a bargaining unit member is to be disciplined by a member of the Administration, s/he will be entitled to have an Association representative to promptly participate in any administrative proceeding. The parties recognize that in many instances the nature of the offense or infraction may create an emergency so as to require immediate action on the part of such member of the administration. In such case, the Association representative shall be permitted release time to attend any meetings between the administration and the employee(s) involved.
- **Section 26.2.** Any reasonable complaint, deemed valid by the Administration, regarding a bargaining unit member covered by this Agreement, made to any member of the Administration by any parent, student or other person will be called promptly to the attention of the employee and the complainant identified. As a matter of protocol, any complainant should be asked if the complainant's concerns have been communicated to the bargaining unit member involved and, if not, it should be recommended that the complainant do so as a first step toward resolution. The Administration should try to resolve complaints at the lowest practical administrative level.
- **Section 26.3.** Material in reference to a bargaining unit member's conduct, service, character or personality shall not be made an official entry in a personnel file until the unit member has had an opportunity to review the material. The bargaining unit member shall acknowledge that s/he has reviewed such material by affixing his/her signature to the copy to be filed; such signature in no way indicating his/her agreement or disagreement with the contents thereof.
- **Section 26.4.** Bargaining unit members shall have the right, upon request, to review the contents of their personnel file. A bargaining unit member may have a representative of the Association accompany him during such review and may obtain a copy of anything in the file.
- **Section 26.5** A bargaining unit member shall have the right to submit a written comment in reference to any material in his/her personnel file, and his/her comment shall be reviewed by the Superintendent of Schools and shall be attached to the file copy concerned.
- **Section 26.6** Grievance files are to be separate from official personnel files. The District shall maintain the confidentiality of these files in accordance with state and federal law. Only one official personnel file may be kept within the School District. This file is to be kept at the School District's administration offices.
- **Section 26.7.** No bargaining unit member shall be disciplined, reprimanded or reduced in compensation without just cause. This section does not apply to the non-renewal of a bargaining unit member without professional status.
- **Section 26.8.** The dismissal of or the failure to reappoint a probationary bargaining unit member is not subject to the arbitration provisions of this Agreement however, the following procedures

shall apply in cases involving the dismissal or failure to reappoint a probationary bargaining unit member.

- A. In those cases where the Superintendent does not reappoint the bargaining unit member, the bargaining unit member involved may utilize the grievance procedure up to and including the Superintendent level (Level Three).
- B. Upon the request of the bargaining unit member involved, the bargaining unit member will be given a statement of reasons for the dismissal or failure to reappoint.
- C. The bargaining unit member involved will be given a hearing before the School Committee. Upon request of the bargaining unit member involved, such hearing may be public.

Article XXVII. Professional Consultation

Section 27.1. In recognition of the professional standing of bargaining unit members and the fact that the bargaining unit members' ideas and opinions systematically and periodically collated and expressed are of significant value in improving the quality of education in, as well as the efficient and economical operation of, the Dennis-Yarmouth Regional School District, the Committee agrees that not more frequently than once every three (3) months for a duration of no longer than two (2) hours, it or its designated representative, including administrators whose presence is deemed advisable by the Committee, will, upon request of the Association, meet at a reasonable time and place with the Association to consult about any matters of concern or interest to the Association. The frequency and/or length of such meetings may be extended by mutual agreement.

Section 27.2. The Association agrees that prior to one (1) week before the date scheduled for said consultation, the Association will submit a written agenda of subjects about which it desires to consult at the meeting to the Superintendent of Schools, and that the consultation will be confined to subjects on that agenda.

Section 27.3. It is further agreed that the provisions of this Article will in no way be construed as broadening the scope of other provisions of this Agreement or broadening the application of this Agreement as a whole; nor will these provisions make any matter subject of a grievance or arbitration that would not be a grievance or arbitration matter in the absence of these provisions; nor make any matter a mandatory subject of discussion at any time other than at the consultations described in this Article that would not be a mandatory subject of discussion in the absence of the provisions of this section.

Article XXVIII. Non-discrimination

Section 28.1. As sole collective bargaining agent, the Association will, as required by law, continue its policy of accepting into voluntary membership all eligible persons in the Dennis-

Yarmouth Regional School System without regard to race, creed, color, national origin, sex, sexual orientation (as defined in Massachusetts General Laws chapter 151 B, section 4), or marital status. The Association will represent equally all persons without regard to membership or participation in the Association.

Section 28.2. As required by law, the Committee shall continue its policy of not discriminating against any person on the basis of race, creed, color, national origin, sex, sexual orientation (as defined in Massachusetts General Laws chapter 151 B, section 4), or marital status, or the membership or participation in the Association.

Article XXIX. Curriculum Development

The Administration and the staff shall periodically review the curriculum of the Dennis-Yarmouth Regional School District. The responsibility for decisions in this area is recognized as a policy decision within the sole discretion of the School Committee. Curriculum development may occur either as part of bargaining unit members' common planning time or outside the school day. Those bargaining unit members who participate in curriculum development outside of the school day shall be paid for their curriculum writing at the rate specified in Appendix E. Common planning time is in addition to an individual's planning time.

Article XXX. Association Business Leave

Bargaining unit member representatives of the Dennis-Yarmouth Educators Association not to exceed eight (8) in number will be allowed eight (8) days in the aggregate to attend the annual convention of the Massachusetts Teachers' Association (MTA) without loss of salary.

Bargaining unit member representatives of the Dennis-Yarmouth Educators Association will be allowed five (5) days in the aggregate (to be approved by Association's President) without loss of salary to attend official Massachusetts Teachers' Association (MTA) business other than the annual Massachusetts Teachers' Association annual convention.

No one person will be entitled to more than four (4) days leave with pay under this Article.

Article XXXI. Notices and Announcements

Section 31.1. All official bulletins shall be posted on school bulletin boards for the inspection of the bargaining unit members.

Section 31.2. A "Directory of Teaching Personnel" in the Dennis-Yarmouth Regional School District shall be made available to all personnel by December 1 of each school year.

Section 31.3. A systematic method of circulating information shall be devised in each building. This is to be set up so that the classroom interruptions for notices or for public address announcements shall be held to an absolute minimum.

Section 31.4. Minutes of previous School Committee meetings and notices of School Committee meetings will be available on-line.

Section 31.5. Agendas of School Committee meetings, including special meetings, shall be posted on the school bulletin boards at the same time it is made available to Committee members. During the summer months, when school is not in session, such information shall be mailed to the President of the Dennis-Yarmouth Educators Association.

Article XXXII. Course Reimbursement

Subject to the following provisions, the Committee will pay the cost of tuition for courses conducted by accredited colleges, universities, or professional training schools which are determined by the Committee, in its exclusive judgment, to be in the best interest of the educational needs of the school district.

- A. Where possible, electronic requests shall be submitted to the Superintendent or designee, at least thirty (30) days prior to the commencement of the course.
- B. Authorization for tuition payment must be granted by the Superintendent, or designee electronically prior to the staff member's attendance.
- C. Effective September 1, 2014, a maximum of four (4) courses per year will be subject to reimbursement, up to a total limit of \$600 annually, except that the unused balance is not to exceed \$1,800 over a three-year period. (At the end of that three-year period, the balance reverts to zero, and the process starts over again.) [Any member with a balance from the 2014-2015 contract may carry that balance over to the 2015-2018 contract.]
- D. This provision shall not apply to those on sabbatical leave.
- E. Course reimbursement funds for professional activities that award PDPs will be granted consistent with Appendix F.
- F. Reimbursement shall be made following the satisfactory completion of the course only to those bargaining unit members still employed in the Dennis-Yarmouth Regional School District.

Article XXXIII. Coaching Assignments and Salaries

Section 33.1. Athletic positions for each Middle School and the High School shall be publicized at least annually by the building principal by means of a notice placed on the Association's bulletin board. Coaching and Coordinator assignments shall be distributed on a just, equitable, and voluntary basis and appointed yearly by the Committee at its sole discretion.

Section 33.2. All athletic coaches shall reapply for their positions annually.

Section 33.3. All coaching salaries will be paid according to the salary schedule in Appendix B of this agreement.

Article XXXIV. Reduction in Force

Section 34.1. The Committee retains the non-delegable right to determine the number of teaching and professional persons, which are needed.

Section 34.2. When a reduction in the teaching staff is necessary because of a decrease in student enrollment, change in curriculum, shortage of funds, changes in the use of instructional personnel, or for other reasons if approved by the School Committee, the Superintendent shall determine the discipline, level, or programs that will lose staff positions and will recommend them to the Committee for action. (Levels are: Pre-K—5, 6—8, 9—12. Disciplines are listed in Section 34.5.)

Section 34.3. The Superintendent, in his/her exclusive judgment, may assign bargaining unit members to a different level and/or discipline in the absence of any voluntary requests for transfer from other staff members whom the Administration considers equally or more qualified. However, any bargaining unit member who is transferred to a position for which s/he is not fully certified, but eligible to teach under present certification regulations, will not lose his/her bumping rights in his/her former area.

Section 34.4. In determining the order in which bargaining unit members with professional teacher status are to be laid off within the discipline and level when appropriate, seniority within the Dennis-Yarmouth Regional School District shall be the sole criterion. Bargaining unit members who teach in more than one discipline shall be considered as being in each of these disciplines for purposes of reduction in force. A bargaining unit member who teaches in more than one level during a given school year, for the purposes of this Article, shall be considered to teach in that level in which the bargaining unit member would have spent the majority of his time over the previous three school years (including the current year). Seniority is defined as the length of continuous service from the date of initial regular full-time employment as a bargaining unit member in the Dennis-Yarmouth Regional School District and its antecedents. Authorized leaves up to eight weeks and sabbatical leave time will count as time served. Other leaves without pay will not break continuous service, but will not count as time served towards seniority. Recall will apply only to those who maintain professional teacher status according to Massachusetts' laws or court decisions applicable to Dennis-Yarmouth personnel.

In determining the number of years of continuous service, uninterrupted time as a permanent substitute (not long term, daily substitute) combined with regular service will count. A bargaining unit member teaching 50% or less of a standard teaching load shall receive a half year's credit for each year served under these conditions; more than 50% counts as a full year. Time commences with the first day of work. In those cases where two or more bargaining unit members have the exact same length of service, the bargaining unit member whose appointment

by the School Committee predates the other appointments will be retained. In case of identical dates of appointment, the bargaining unit member whose placement on the salary schedule is furthest to the right with respect to columns will be retained. In case of identical column placement, the School Committee will make the final decision. As used in this Article, the term "lay-off" shall include both termination of a bargaining unit member due to reduction in force and reduction from full-time to part-time status.

Section 34.5. Disciplines

Elementary

Regular

Middle School

Generalists

Grade 6/7 Specialist (exempt from Section 34.7(e) requirement for displacing grade 8 subject specialist discipline)

English

Mathematics

Reading

Social Studies

Science

Home Economics (exempt from Section 34.7(b) requirement for displacing at the 9 through 12 level)

Industrial Arts (exempt from Section 34.7(b) requirement for displacing at the 9 through 12 level) 32

French (exempt from Section 34.7(b) requirement for displacing at the 9 through 12 level)

Spanish (exempt from Section 34.7(b) requirement for displacing at the 9 through 12 level)

Computer

High School

Industrial Arts (exempt from Section 34.7(b) requirement for displacing at the 6 through 8 level)

Home Economics (exempt from Section 34.7(b) requirement for displacing at the 6 through 8 level)

English

Social Studies

Mathematics

Chemistry

Physics

Biology, General Science & Earth Science

Reading

French (exempt from Section 34.7(b) requirement for displacing at the 6 through 8 level)

German (exempt from Section 34.7(b) requirement for displacing at the 6 through 8 level)

Spanish (exempt from Section 34.7(b) requirement for displacing at the 6 through 8 level)

Modern Foreign Language (other) (exempt from Section 34.7(b) requirement for displacing at the 6 through 8 level)

Latin (exempt from Section 34.7(b) requirement for displacing at the 6 through 8 level)

Health & Physical Education

Business Subjects

Audio-Visual/Media Specialist

Guidance Counselors

Computer

District

Librarian (Pre-K-5, 6—8, 9—12. Pre-K through 12 with MLS or 30 graduate and/or undergraduate credits in library science)

Nurse (Pre-K—l2 levels apply)

Art (Pre-K—5, 6—12 levels apply)

Music (Pre-K—5, 6—12 levels apply)

Physical Education (Pre-K—8, 9—12 levels apply)

Special Needs

Psychologist (Pre-K—5, 6—8, 9—12 levels apply)

Emotionally Disturbed (Pre-K—5, 6—8, 9—12 levels apply)

Speech & Language (Pre-K—5, 6—8,9—12 levels apply)

Learning Disabled (Pre-K—5, 6—8, 9—12 levels apply)

Moderate and Severe Developmental Disabilities (levels do not apply)

Home School Counselor (Pre-K—5, 6—8, 9—12 levels apply)

Social Worker (Pre-K—5, 6—8, 9—12 levels apply)

Section 34.6. A bargaining unit member who has been reduced in force from his/her discipline pursuant to Section 34.4 or displaced pursuant to this section may displace (bump) another bargaining unit member in another discipline having less seniority provided that the conditions of this section are met.

Section 34.7. Definition.

A. Eighth grade subject matter specialist—a teacher teaching eighth grade who has secondary subject matter certification and/or is eligible for middle school specialist certification, except for the practicum.

Middle School generalist (6 and 7)--a teacher teaching grades 6 and/or 7 who has elementary certification and/or is eligible for middle school generalist certification, except for the practicum.

Grade 6 or 7 specialist--a teacher teaching grades 6 and/or 7 who has secondary subject matter certification but who does not also have elementary certification nor is eligible for middle school generalist certification, except for the practicum.

- B. Seniority does not apply across levels unless the senior bargaining unit member has taught at the new level for two full years, one of which is within the past eight years, as well as carrying the appropriate certification.
- C. A high school subject matter specialist cannot displace a middle school teacher in grades six and seven unless s/he has elementary certification or is eligible for the new middle school (generalist) certification exclusive of practicum.
- D. A high school subject matter specialist cannot displace an eighth grade teacher, if the eighth grade teacher is eligible for middle school specialist certification, except for the practicum, unless the high school teacher is also eligible.
- E. Seniority does not apply across disciplines within levels unless the bargaining unit member has previously taught the other discipline for two full years, one of which is within the past eight years.
- F. A grade eight subject specialist cannot displace a grade six or seven elementary certified teacher unless the specialist is eligible for middle school generalist certification except for the practicum or unless the specialist has elementary certification.
- G. A grade six or seven elementary certified teacher cannot displace a grade eight specialist unless the elementary teacher has secondary certification or is eligible for middle school specialist certification with the exception of the practicum.
- H. A grade eight specialist without elementary certification may displace a grade six or seven specialist under either of the following conditions:
 - 1. The grade eight specialist is eligible for middle school generalist certification;
 - 2. The grade eight specialist is eligible for middle school specialist certification and the grade six or seven specialist is not.
- I. A grade six or seven specialist can displace a grade eight specialist unless the grade eight specialist is eligible for middle school specialist certification with the exception of the practicum and the grade six or seven specialist is not eligible for middle school specialist certification.

Section 34.8. Bargaining unit members laid off under this Article shall have the option of choosing an involuntary leave of absence without pay for twelve months. Such a leave shall be renewed by the School Committee at the request of the bargaining unit member for one additional twelve-month period. Such bargaining unit members, including those placed on involuntary leave of absence by School Committee action prior to the effective date of this contract shall be considered for recall in the inverse order of their layoff within their discipline and level for a period of twenty-four months from the effective date of their layoff. Such employees shall

be notified by the Superintendent concerning any such positions in the district for which they may be qualified and shall be given preference in the filling of such positions. Failure to accept such offering within 15 days of such offering will result in the bargaining unit member forfeiting his recall rights. The School Committee will make every reasonable effort to give priority on the substitute list to bargaining unit members on recall, provided such bargaining unit members indicate their desire to be placed on the substitute list.

Bargaining unit members serving a recall period may continue group health and life insurance coverage as provided at their expense during such two-year recall period if permitted by the insurance company.

Bargaining unit members recalled after layoff shall be placed on that step of the salary schedule which is one higher than the one on which they were at the time of layoff, and shall have all benefits to which they are entitled under the Agreement in effect upon their return with no break in accrued benefits so authorized.

Section 34.9. Bargaining unit members on leave of absence are not exempt from reduction-inforce. However, any bargaining unit member on sabbatical who is reduced in force shall not be required to reimburse the District under Section 18.2.

Section 34.10. A leave of absence without pay or increment for the purpose of exploring alternative career employment may be granted by the Committee to bargaining unit members with professional teacher status who request it in writing prior to January 1 of the year preceding the year in which they wish to take such leave.

Section 34.11. The administration will furnish an accurate seniority list to the Association president by November 1 of each year.

Article XXXV. Part-time Bargaining Unit Member Status

Part-time hiring has been used to accommodate bargaining unit members who wish to dedicate more time to their personal and family lives and to provide staff where less than full-time will best serve the District's needs. Both parties agree to the following:

Categories of Part-time Teaching

A. Dual Team Teaching

- 1. Non-departmentalized situations where two half-time teachers combine with one full-time teacher to instruct two classes of students;
- 2. Non-departmentalized situations where two teachers combine to instruct one class of students.
- 3. Departmentalized situations where two teachers combine to fill a position

normally held by one teacher.

B. Straight Part-time Teaching

- 1. Pro-rated salary situations where the teacher instructs one-third or more of a full year (not applicable to permanent or long-term substitutes--Article XI).
- 2. Hourly salary situations where the teacher instructs less than one-third of a school year.

General Conditions Relating to All Categories

- A. Part-time teaching, other than non-departmentalized, may be a fraction of a full day for the entire year or full days for a fraction of a year as determined by the School Committee.
- B. Teachers with professional teacher status will not lose professional teacher status and probationary teachers may achieve professional teacher status while filling a part time position.
- C. The decision to institute or discontinue part-time positions rest solely with the School Committee.
- D. Teachers with professional teacher status in part-time positions, which are eliminated, retain rights relating to reduction-in-force as described in Article XXXIV.
- E. Part-time teachers may return to full-time status provided:
 - 1. The request is submitted by April 1 for the next school year;
 - 2. There is an appropriate vacancy over and above the number of positions required to place all regular teachers (with and without professional teacher status); i.e., any regular, full-time staff member who is facing the elimination of his/her position has priority in filling vacancies over part-time teachers who wish to return to full-time, assuming the part-time position is still available; i.e., seniority does not allow "bumping" of full-time by part-time if part-time position is available.
- F. All part-time teachers, except those on hourly salary, will receive pro-rated sick leave and other benefits based on the percent of teaching load; for example, a teacher working half-time for 183 days will be eligible for 15 sick days at half pay. For purposes of accumulation for future use of "buy back" the annual maximum will be seven and one-half (7 1/2) days per year, and any use of accumulated sick days earned when working full-time will be at the rate of two half days for each

- full one. A teacher working full days for part of the year will be eligible for the pro-rated number of sick leave days at full pay.
- G. Vertical movement on the salary guide, except of hourly part-time teachers, will be annual. Upon return to a full-time position the placement on guide will be based on a conversion of part-time years to full time; two halves equal one year, etc. An example of this would be a teacher on the fourth step of the guide shifting to half time on the fifth year, and after six more years (Step 11 on half-time basis) returning to Step Eight as a full-time teacher.
- H. By law, health insurance cannot be paid by the District to those whose monthly average is less than twenty clock hours per week. Bargaining unit members may pay the full amount and remain in the group assuming the carrier approves such participation.
- I. Horizontal movement, except for hourly part-time teachers, is not altered by part-time teaching.
- J. Years of service earned for purposes of seniority are as defined in Section 34.4.
- K. The provisions of Article XXXV are not subject to grievance-arbitration except in those specific areas, which refer to other sections of the Agreement, which are subject to grievance-arbitration.

Conditions Relating to Specific Categories

- A. Dual Team Teaching—Non-departmentalized
 - 1. Three teachers are required—one full-time and two half-time;
 - 2. Under this structure two teachers are filling one full-time position and each receives half pay;
 - 3. If one half-time member leaves the team for any reason, the dual team is considered abolished and the other member must accept the full-time position or resign. The Committee may, but is not required to, continue the dual team if a satisfactory (as determined by the Committee) volunteer from the existing staff requests to replace the member who has left.
 - 4. The dual category is contingent upon a full-time teacher teaming with the dual position. The half-time position may be rotated among the three if requested and with administrative approval.
 - 5. If the full-time member leaves the team for any reason, the team is considered abolished and each half-time teacher must accept a full-time position or resign unless a satisfactory replacement as determined by the

Committee is found.

- 6. The full-time teacher cannot discontinue the arrangement unilaterally.
- 7. With the approval of the administration, up to five (5) full days with pay may be authorized at the start of the school year to enable each half-time teacher to get to know the students better.

A. Dual Team Teaching—Departmentalized

- 1. Under this structure two teachers are filling one full-time position and each receives half pay.
- 2. If one member leaves the team for any reason, the dual team is considered abolished and the other member must accept the full-time position or resign. The Committee may, but is not required to, continue the dual team if a satisfactory (as determined by the Committee) volunteer from the existing staff requests to replace the member who has left.
- B. Straight Part-time Teaching One-third or More of a Full Position
 - 1. Departmentalized teachers' pay will be based on a six-period workday; for example, three teaching periods with no administrative period equals half time.
 - 2. Non-departmentalized teachers' pay will be pro-rated according to time; for example, one session of kindergarten equals half time.
- C. Straight Part-time Teaching Less One-third of a Full Position
 - 1. Hourly pay as per Section 63(c).
 - 2. No sick leave or other benefits.

Job Sharing

A. For the purposes of this Agreement, job sharing shall mean the occupation of a single staff position by two individuals, each with a proportional assignment. In order for a shared position to be approved, the two (2) individuals must complete a letter of application, including the terms and schedule of the proposal.

Applications for job sharing shall be filed by the teachers with the building principal prior to April 1st of the school year preceding the effective date of the job share. The building principal shall review the application and make a recommendation to the Superintendent. The final action on the application shall be at the discretion of the Superintendent.

Factors to be considered by the principal shall include certification, area of competence, major and/or minor field of study, quality of teaching performance, compatibility of the teachers working together, the number of potential job sharing requests, and the impact of the job-sharing arrangement on the instructional program and the building.

The following conditions shall apply with respect to job-sharing:

- 1. The teacher partners shall have achieved professional teacher status;
- 2. No teacher in the system shall be involuntarily transferred in order to create a job-share;
- 3. Job-sharing assignments shall be for a period of one year and shall terminate at the end of each school year;
- 4. When a job-sharing position is terminated, the teachers shall be assigned to a position for which they hold the appropriate certification;
- 5. Job shares may not be a 50-50 split;
- 6. Both job-sharing teachers shall attend:
 - a. All professional days as determined by the contract;
 - b. All after-school or before-school faculty meetings as determined by the contract and/or share pertinent information;
 - c. All parent conferences and open houses as determined by the contract;
 - d. All 504/IEP Team meetings and/or share pertinent information.
 - e. All contractual districtwide meetings.
- 7. A minimum fifteen (15) minute overlap for an orderly transfer and information sharing shall be scheduled each day, if sharing involves partial days;
- 8. Both employees shall mark report cards together and attend conferences together;
- 9. Grade-level planning meetings shall be attended by the teacher that is scheduled during the time of the meeting. The teacher will share information with the partner teacher.
- B. Job-share compensation. Each teacher's salary shall be pro-rated. The salary schedule step for each teacher shall be the same as (s)he would be entitled to if employed on a full-time basis. This step shall determine the base salary from which the salary fraction will be computed.

Seniority shall accrue to a teacher in a job-sharing position on a pro-rated basis.

Vertical movement on the salary schedule will be annual. Upon a return to a full-time position, placement on the schedule will be based on a conversion of part-time years to full-time; two half years equal one full year. Sick leave and personal leave shall be pro-rated. Due to the fact that job-shares may not be a 50-50 split, only one (1) partner in a job-share shall be eligible for health insurance.

C. The Superintendent may discontinue job sharing at any time if he/she feels it is in the best interest of the students and/or the school district.

Article XXXVI. Salaries

Section 36.1. Bargaining unit members will be paid in twenty-six (26) equal installments, with the option of receiving the balance of their salary on the first day following the closing of school, provided written notice has been submitted to the Superintendent no later than thirty (30) days prior to school closing. Bargaining unit members will be given the option of being paid in twenty-one (21) equal installments. Once a payment option is selected it cannot be changed during the year.

Section 36.2. All bargaining unit members qualifying under Article XXIV and subject to the following provisions shall be paid at their achieved classifications on the salary schedule.

- A. Confirmation of all credits and degrees have been received from accredited colleges and universities prior to the start of each school year.
- B. A satisfactory completion of a minimum three (3) credits every three (3) years for continued incremental pay and general salary increases. Such credits must be received from accredited colleges or universities, or with prior Superintendent approval.
- C. Bargaining unit members having a Master's Degree or above are exempt from this three credit requirement, but are required to so complete satisfactorily a minimum of three (3) credits every five (5) years for continued incremental pay and general salary increases. Such credits must be received from accredited colleges or universities or with prior Superintendent approval.
- D. The Administration may, at its option, require a bargaining unit member to take a specific three-credit course during the three-year or five-year period. The School Committee shall pay the entire cost of the course (excluding transportation if the course is given on-Cape Cod), the provisions of Article XXXII notwithstanding. (\$600 will be applied to cost of course if not previously committed to an Approved course.) Satisfactory completion of this specific course shall count for both vertical and horizontal movement on the salary guide.

Bargaining unit members who have taken any three credit course with the approval of the Superintendent may not be required by the Administration to take a specific course as described

in this paragraph for the three-year or five-year period commencing with the year in which the three-credit course is taken. Satisfactory completion of such course shall count for both horizontal and vertical movement on the salary guide.

Section 36.3. Only graduate level courses from accredited colleges and universities, or those courses approved by the Superintendent, may be used for horizontal movement on the salary guide.

Section 36.4. In order to be eligible for an annual increment, employees must teach for ninety (90) or more days. Exceptions will be made for those on sabbatical leave.

Section 36.5. Longevity Pay Award.

A. Definitions. As used in this agreement, the following terms have the meanings set forth in this section.

"Course" means a three-credit course from an accredited college or university or an equivalent course approved by the Committee.

"School year" means the period from September 1 of one calendar year through June 30 of the following calendar year.

"Bargaining unit member" means any employee of the District who is covered by the agreement.

"Years of service" means a bargaining unit member's time in service as computed for purposes of seniority under Section Four of Article XXXIV of the agreement (rounded off to the nearest whole number of years as the start of the school year in question) and includes service in the Dennis-Yarmouth Regional School District and in the Dennis and Yarmouth public schools.

B. Longevity Payments. To provide an incentive for experienced bargaining unit members to continue serving in the District, the Committee shall make annual longevity payments as follows:

Longevity Level

Ι	\$800
II	\$1,100
III	\$1,400
IV	\$1,700

- 1. A bargaining unit member is entitled to receive a Level I annual longevity payment if s/he has completed at least 12 years of service but has not yet completed 14 years of service and meets the course requirements set forth in Section 36.6(d)(1).
- 2. A bargaining unit member is entitled to receive a Level II annual longevity

- payment if s/he has completed at least 14 years of service but has not yet completed 19 years of service and meets the course requirements set forth in Section 36.6(d)(2).
- 3. A bargaining unit member is entitled to receive a Level III annual longevity payment if s/he has completed at least 19 years of service but has not yet completed 29 years of service and meets the course requirements set forth in Section 36.6(d)(3).
- 4. A bargaining unit member is entitled to receive a Level IV annual longevity payment if he/she has completed at least 29 years of service and meets the course requirements set forth in Section 36.6(d)(4).
- C. Method of Payment. Any annual longevity payment to which a bargaining unit member is entitled shall be paid in a lump sum on September 1.
- D. Course Requirements. A bargaining unit member's entitlement to receive annual longevity payments is contingent on his/her meeting these course requirements:
 - 1. A bargaining unit member must complete a qualifying course before he/she is entitled to begin receiving a Level I annual longevity payments.
 - a. In the case of a bargaining unit member who has already completed at least 12 years of service as of September 1, 1998, a course qualifies for this purpose only if completed on or after September 1, 1995, or during the three-year period immediately preceding the start of the bargaining unit member's thirteenth year of service.
 - b. In the case of a bargaining unit member who has not yet completed 12 years of service as of September 1, 1998, a course qualifies for this purpose only if completed during the three-year period immediately preceding the start of the bargaining unit members' thirteenth year of service or thereafter.
 - 2. A bargaining unit member must complete a qualifying course (in addition to any course that s/he may have completed to qualify for one or more Level I annual longevity payments) before s/he is entitled to begin receiving Level II annual longevity payments. A course qualifies for this purpose only if completed during the three-year period immediately preceding the start of the bargaining unit members' fifteenth year of service or thereafter.
 - 3. A bargaining unit member must complete a qualifying course (in addition to any course that s/he may have completed to qualify for one or more Level I or Level II annual longevity payments) before s/he is entitled to

begin receiving Level III annual longevity payments. A course qualifies for this purpose only if completed during the three-year period immediately preceding the start of the bargaining unit members' nineteenth year of service or thereafter.

- 4. A bargaining unit member must complete a qualifying course (in addition to any course that s/he may have completed to qualify for one or more Level I, Level II, or Level III annual longevity payments) before s/he is entitled to begin receiving Level IV annual longevity payments.
 - a. In the case of a bargaining unit member who has already completed at least 29 years of service as of September 1, 1999, a course qualifies for this purpose only if completed on or after September 1, 1996, or during the three-year period immediately preceding the start of the bargaining unit members' thirtieth year of service.
 - b. In the case of a bargaining unit member who has not yet completed 29 years of service as of September 1, 1999, a course qualifies for this purpose only if completed during the three-year period immediately preceding the start of the bargaining unit members' thirtieth year of service or thereafter.
 - 5. Each bargaining unit member is responsible for submitting evidence that he/she has completed a qualifying course to the Committee in form reasonably acceptable to the Committee.
 - a. To receive an annual longevity payment during a particular school year, the bargaining unit member must submit evidence of course completion not later than August 15th immediately preceding the start of that particular school year.
 - b. In the case of a bargaining unit member taking a qualifying course in the summer, the August 15th deadline for submitting evidence of completion of that course is waived if the bargaining unit member:
 - 1. submits a letter from his/her instructor not later than August 15th confirming that the bargaining unit member is enrolled in the course;
 - 2. completes the course before the start of the particular school year; and
 - 3. submits evidence of course completion in form reasonably, acceptable to the Committee not later than October 1 of the particular school year.

If the bargaining unit member submits a letter from his/her instructor pursuant to Section 36.6(d)(5)(b)(i) and then fails to comply with Section 36.6(d)(5)(b)(ii) or 36.6(d)(5)(b)(iii), the bargaining unit member shall refund (within 10 days after demand by the Committee) any longevity payments made to him/her by the Committee in reliance on that letter.

Article XXXVII. Travel Allowance

Section 37.1. Travel allowance equivalent to those paid to other employees of the District will be paid to employees covered by this Agreement when they are directed by an immediate Administrator or the Superintendent to use his/her automobile in the course of employment.

Article XXXVIII Comprehensive Teacher Induction Program

Section 38.1. There shall be a Comprehensive Teacher Induction Program ("the Program") which will be overseen by the Office of Instruction. The Program shall include district and building orientation as well as mentoring expectations. First-year teachers in the District shall be required to attend no more than two (2) additional work days before the start of school for mentoring/induction beyond the contractual work year requirement of bargaining unit members.

During their first year of employment with the district, all teachers with between zero and three years of teaching experience shall be required to take or have taken The Skillful Teacher, or a comparable three-credit equivalent course identified by the district, unless a teacher provides documentation to the superintendent that demonstrates that he/she is actively enrolled in a masters program, in which case The Skillful Teacher shall be taken at the completion of the masters program. The course shall be paid for by the district.

Section 38.2. Mentors

- A. All approved mentors shall attend district-approved and funded training.
- B. One-on-one relationships between mentor and mentee are preferred, however, additional mentee/protégé pairings may be allowed, with the approval of the Superintendent or his/her designee.
- C. The mentors will earn a \$700.00 stipend for the first mentee and a \$450.00 stipend for each additional mentee that may be assigned.
- D. One (1) credit for horizontal movement will be awarded per year with a maximum of three credits earned over total time in the district.
- E. In the event that a department chair is assigned as a mentor, the department chair will not take an evaluative role (either formal or informal) with the mentee over the course of the mentor/mentee relationship.

- F. The mentor will meet with the mentee/protégé at least every other week.
- G. The mentor will submit a log of activities to the Office of Instruction by no later than June 1st.
- H. The mentor will participate in four (4) District mentoring meetings per year. These meetings will be approximately one (1) hour in duration.
- I. Teachers new to the district but with more than three (3) years of teaching experience will not be required to participate in a full mentoring program. Teachers in this category shall be required to attend orientation days and will be assigned new teacher support provided by a staff member with professional teacher status. The staff member providing support will be paid half the contractual rate for a mentor involved in a full program.

Section 38.3. Other Teachers

A. When a bona fide mentoring relationship is in place and approved by the building principal, the agreed-upon rates and guidelines for the mentor teacher set forth in Section 38.2 shall be followed.

Article XXXIX Home-School Communications

Quarterly report cards and mid-quarter reports must be completed in a method selected by the district as outlined below.

Bargaining unit members will provide the following report cards, mid-quarter reports, and parent-teacher conferences as outlined below:

Early Education/Kindergarten – Grade 5

- a. Three (3) written trimester report cards. The sole exception to this requirement shall be for related arts teachers who shall not be required to submit a report card for the first trimester for kindergarten students only.
- b. Two (2) parent conferences fall and spring

Grades 6-7

- a. Three (3) written trimester report cards
- b. Three (3) mid-trimester reports. The sole exception to this requirement shall be for related arts teachers who shall not be required to submit a mid-trimester report for the first trimester.

Grades 8-12

- a. One report card each quarter (4)
- b. Four (4) mid-quarter reports

Grades 6-12

- a. All grade six (6) through twelve (12) student work on tests, quizzes, assignments, and grades will be recorded in the District's computerized grading system within ten (10) school days of the date it is received by the teacher. If extenuating circumstances arise, the principal or assistant principal may grant the teacher additional days to input their grades. Projects and term papers will be given reasonable time for grading and recording beyond the ten (10) school days.
- b. Training will occur any time changes are made to hardware or software.
- c. Teachers will have technology readily accessible to generate such reports at the building site. Teachers will be provided with software for off-site data input, if available.
- d. Teachers will not be held responsible for computer of software issues, problems not under their control, or for any issues of computer hacking or sharing of passwords by parents or students.
- e. Reasonable adjustments to timelines will be made in the event of technology failures.
- f. Additional grade reporting, and the use of the other features of the grade reporting software, are voluntary.
- g. Teachers may select from a variety of forms of parent/guardian communication. If and when the district introduces new communication tools, it will provide members with training in their use. Until such time as the Association and the Committee negotiate the implementation of any additional home-school communication tools, such use will be on a voluntary basis.
- h. The District shall notify parents/guardians annually by written letter about the District's computerized grading system in an effort to set expectations for use of the system by staff and parents/guardians.

Appendix A. Professional Employee Salary Schedule

2015-2016 School Year

FY'16

1% on first	day							
	В	B+15	M/B+42	M+15	M+30	M+45	M+60	DOC
Step 1	\$42,968	\$44,037	\$45,655	\$46,728	\$48,875	\$50,340	\$50,844	\$51,860
Step 2	\$45,121	\$46,189	\$47,807	\$48,875	\$51,568	\$53,114	\$53,645	\$54,717
Step 3	\$47,807	\$48,875	\$50,488	\$51,568	\$54,252	\$55,879	\$56,437	\$57,566
Step 4	\$50,488	\$51,561	\$53,172	\$54,252	\$56,940	\$58,650	\$59,237	\$60,421
Step 5	\$53,172	\$54,252	\$55,856	\$56,940	\$59,615	\$61,402	\$62,016	\$63,256
Step 6	\$55,856	\$56,940	\$58,546	\$59,615	\$62,309	\$64,178	\$64,821	\$66,117
Step 7	\$58,546	\$59,615	\$61,224	\$62,303	\$64,990	\$66,942	\$67,611	\$68,964
Step 8	\$61,224	\$62,303	\$63,915	\$64,990	\$67,673	\$69,703	\$70,401	\$71,809
Step 9	\$63,915	\$64,990	\$66,604	\$67,673	\$71,431	\$73,575	\$74,311	\$75,797
Step 10	\$66,604	\$67,673	\$70,367	\$71,431	\$75,190	\$77,447	\$78,221	\$79,786
Step 11	\$67,603	\$68,689	\$71,421	\$72,505	\$76,320	\$78,608	\$79,394	\$80,983
Step 12	\$68,618	\$69,719	\$72,493	\$73,593	\$77,464	\$79,786	\$80,584	\$82,196

1% at midp	oint							
	В	B+15	M/B+42	M+15	M+30	M+45	M+60	DOC
Step 1	\$43,398	\$44,477	\$46,112	\$47,195	\$49,364	\$50,843	\$51,352	\$52,379
Step 2	\$45,572	\$46,651	\$48,285	\$49,364	\$52,084	\$53,645	\$54,181	\$55,264
Step 3	\$48,285	\$49,364	\$50,993	\$52,084	\$54,795	\$56,438	\$57,001	\$58,142
Step 4	\$50,993	\$52,077	\$53,704	\$54,795	\$57,509	\$59,237	\$59,829	\$61,025
Step 5	\$53,704	\$54,795	\$56,415	\$57,509	\$60,211	\$62,016	\$62,636	\$63,889
Step 6	\$56,415	\$57,509	\$59,131	\$60,211	\$62,932	\$64,820	\$65,469	\$66,778
Step 7	\$59,131	\$60,211	\$61,836	\$62,926	\$65,640	\$67,611	\$68,287	\$69,654
Step 8	\$61,836	\$62,926	\$64,554	\$65,640	\$68,350	\$70,400	\$71,105	\$72,527
Step 9	\$64,554	\$65,640	\$67,270	\$68,350	\$72,145	\$74,311	\$75,054	\$76,555
Step 10	\$67,270	\$68,350	\$71,071	\$72,145	\$75,942	\$78,221	\$79,003	\$80,584
Step 11	\$68,279	\$69,376	\$72,135	\$73,230	\$77,083	\$79,394	\$80,188	\$81,793
Step 12	\$69,304	\$70,416	\$73,218	\$74,329	\$78,239	\$80,584	\$81,390	\$83,018

FY16 Cont.

1% to only	Step 12 on I	ast day						
	В	B+15	M/B+42	M+15	M+30	M+45	M+60	DOC
Step 1	\$43,398	\$44,477	\$46,112	\$47,195	\$49,364	\$50,843	\$51,352	\$52,379
Step 2	\$45,572	\$46,651	\$48,285	\$49,364	\$52,084	\$53,645	\$54,181	\$55,264
Step 3	\$48,285	\$49,364	\$50,993	\$52,084	\$54,795	\$56,438	\$57,001	\$58,142
Step 4	\$50,993	\$52,077	\$53,704	\$54,795	\$57,509	\$59,237	\$59,829	\$61,025
Step 5	\$53,704	\$54,795	\$56,415	\$57,509	\$60,211	\$62,016	\$62,636	\$63,889
Step 6	\$56,415	\$57,509	\$59,131	\$60,211	\$62,932	\$64,820	\$65,469	\$66,778
Step 7	\$59,131	\$60,211	\$61,836	\$62,926	\$65,640	\$67,611	\$68,287	\$69,654
Step 8	\$61,836	\$62,926	\$64,554	\$65,640	\$68,350	\$70,400	\$71,105	\$72,527
Step 9	\$64,554	\$65,640	\$67,270	\$68,350	\$72,145	\$74,311	\$75,054	\$76,555
Step 10	\$67,270	\$68,350	\$71,071	\$72,145	\$75,942	\$78,221	\$79,003	\$80,584
Step 11	\$68,279	\$69,376	\$72,135	\$73,230	\$77,083	\$79,394	\$80,188	\$81,793
Step 12	\$69,997	\$71,120	\$73,950	\$75,072	\$79,021	\$81,390	\$82,204	\$83,848

Blended a	nnual rate							
	В	B+15	M/B+42	M+15	M+30	M+45	M+60	DOC
Step 1	\$43,183	\$44,257	\$45,884	\$46,962	\$49,120	\$50,592	\$51,098	\$52,120
Step 2	\$45,347	\$46,420	\$48,046	\$49,120	\$51,826	\$53,380	\$53,913	\$54,991
Step 3	\$48,046	\$49,120	\$50,741	\$51,826	\$54,524	\$56,159	\$56,719	\$57,854
Step 4	\$50,741	\$51,819	\$53,438	\$54,524	\$57,225	\$58,944	\$59,533	\$60,723
Step 5	\$53,438	\$54,524	\$56,136	\$57,225	\$59,913	\$61,709	\$62,326	\$63,573
Step 6	\$56,136	\$57,225	\$58,839	\$59,913	\$62,621	\$64,499	\$65,145	\$66,448
Step 7	\$58,839	\$59,913	\$61,530	\$62,615	\$65,315	\$67,277	\$67,949	\$69,309
Step 8	\$61,530	\$62,615	\$64,235	\$65,315	\$68,012	\$70,052	\$70,753	\$72,168
Step 9	\$64,235	\$65,315	\$66,937	\$68,012	\$71,788	\$73,943	\$74,683	\$76,176
Step 10	\$66,937	\$68,012	\$70,719	\$71,788	\$75,566	\$77,834	\$78,612	\$80,185
Step 11	\$67,941	\$69,033	\$71,778	\$72,868	\$76,702	\$79,001	\$79,791	\$81,388
Step 12	\$68,961	\$70,068	\$72,856	\$73,961	\$77,852	\$80,185	\$80,987	\$82,607

2016-2017 School Year

FY'17

1% on first	day + additi	onal 1% to N	l+60 and DO	С				
	В	B+15	M/B+42	M+15	M+30	M+45	M+60	DOC
Step 1	\$43,832	\$44,922	\$46,573	\$47,667	\$49,858	\$51,351	\$52,385	\$53,432
Step 2	\$46,028	\$47,118	\$48,768	\$49,858	\$52,605	\$54,181	\$55,270	\$56,375
Step 3	\$48,768	\$49,858	\$51,503	\$52,605	\$55,343	\$57,002	\$58,147	\$59,310
Step 4	\$51,503	\$52,598	\$54,241	\$55,343	\$58,084	\$59,829	\$61,031	\$62,251
Step 5	\$54,241	\$55,343	\$56,979	\$58,084	\$60,813	\$62,636	\$63,895	\$65,173
Step 6	\$56,979	\$58,084	\$59,722	\$60,813	\$63,561	\$65,468	\$66,785	\$68,120
Step 7	\$59,722	\$60,813	\$62,454	\$63,555	\$66,296	\$68,287	\$69,660	\$71,055
Step 8	\$62,454	\$63,555	\$65,200	\$66,296	\$69,034	\$71,104	\$72,534	\$73,985
Step 9	\$65,200	\$66,296	\$67,943	\$69,034	\$72,866	\$75,054	\$76,563	\$78,094
Step 10	\$67,943	\$69,034	\$71,782	\$72,866	\$76,701	\$79,003	\$80,591	\$82,204
Step 11	\$68,962	\$70,070	\$72,856	\$73,962	\$77,854	\$80,188	\$81,800	\$83,437
Step 12	\$70,697	\$71,831	\$74,690	\$75,823	\$79,811	\$82,204	\$83,856	\$85,533

1% at midpoint

	В	B+15	M/B+42	M+15	M+30	M+45	M+60	DOC
Step 1	\$44,270	\$45,371	\$47,039	\$48,144	\$50,357	\$51,865	\$52,909	\$53,966
Step 2	\$46,488	\$47,589	\$49,256	\$50,357	\$53,131	\$54,723	\$55,823	\$56,939
Step 3	\$49,256	\$50,357	\$52,018	\$53,131	\$55,896	\$57,572	\$58,728	\$59,903
Step 4	\$52,018	\$53,124	\$54,783	\$55,896	\$58,665	\$60,427	\$61,641	\$62,874
Step 5	\$54,783	\$55,896	\$57,549	\$58,665	\$61,421	\$63,262	\$64,534	\$65,825
Step 6	\$57,549	\$58,665	\$60,319	\$61,421	\$64,197	\$66,123	\$67,453	\$68,801
Step 7	\$60,319	\$61,421	\$63,079	\$64,191	\$66,959	\$68,970	\$70,357	\$71,766
Step 8	\$63,079	\$64,191	\$65,852	\$66,959	\$69,724	\$71,815	\$73,259	\$74,725
Step 9	\$65,852	\$66,959	\$68,622	\$69,724	\$73,595	\$75,805	\$77,329	\$78,875
Step 10	\$68,622	\$69,724	\$72,500	\$73,595	\$77,468	\$79,793	\$81,397	\$83,026
Step 11	\$69,652	\$70,771	\$73,585	\$74,702	\$78,633	\$80,990	\$82,618	\$84,271
Step 12	\$71,404	\$72,549	\$75,437	\$76,581	\$80,609	\$83,026	\$84,695	\$86,388

FY17 cont.

1% to only	Step 12 on I	ast day						
	В	B+15	M/B+42	M+15	M+30	M+45	M+60	DOC
Step 1	\$44,270	\$45,371	\$47,039	\$48,144	\$50,357	\$51,865	\$52,909	\$53,966
Step 2	\$46,488	\$47,589	\$49,256	\$50,357	\$53,131	\$54,723	\$55,823	\$56,939
Step 3	\$49,256	\$50,357	\$52,018	\$53,131	\$55,896	\$57,572	\$58,728	\$59,903
Step 4	\$52,018	\$53,124	\$54,783	\$55,896	\$58,665	\$60,427	\$61,641	\$62,874
Step 5	\$54,783	\$55,896	\$57,549	\$58,665	\$61,421	\$63,262	\$64,534	\$65,825
Step 6	\$57,549	\$58,665	\$60,319	\$61,421	\$64,197	\$66,123	\$67,453	\$68,801
Step 7	\$60,319	\$61,421	\$63,079	\$64,191	\$66,959	\$68,970	\$70,357	\$71,766
Step 8	\$63,079	\$64,191	\$65,852	\$66,959	\$69,724	\$71,815	\$73,259	\$74,725
Step 9	\$65,852	\$66,959	\$68,622	\$69,724	\$73,595	\$75,805	\$77,329	\$78,875
Step 10	\$68,622	\$69,724	\$72,500	\$73,595	\$77,468	\$79,793	\$81,397	\$83,026
Step 11	\$69,652	\$70,771	\$73,585	\$74,702	\$78,633	\$80,990	\$82,618	\$84,271
Step 12	\$72,118	\$73,274	\$76,191	\$77,347	\$81,415	\$83,856	\$85,542	\$87,252

Blended a	nnual rate							
	В	B+15	M/B+42	M+15	M+30	M+45	M+60	DOC
Step 1	\$44,051	\$45,147	\$46,806	\$47,906	\$50,108	\$51,608	\$52,647	\$53,699
Step 2	\$46,258	\$47,354	\$49,012	\$50,108	\$52,868	\$54,452	\$55,547	\$56,657
Step 3	\$49,012	\$50,108	\$51,761	\$52,868	\$55,620	\$57,287	\$58,438	\$59,607
Step 4	\$51,761	\$52,861	\$54,512	\$55,620	\$58,375	\$60,128	\$61,336	\$62,563
Step 5	\$54,512	\$55,620	\$57,264	\$58,375	\$61,117	\$62,949	\$64,215	\$65,499
Step 6	\$57,264	\$58,375	\$60,021	\$61,117	\$63,879	\$65,796	\$67,119	\$68,461
Step 7	\$60,021	\$61,117	\$62,767	\$63,873	\$66,628	\$68,629	\$70,009	\$71,411
Step 8	\$62,767	\$63,873	\$65,526	\$66,628	\$69,379	\$71,460	\$72,897	\$74,355
Step 9	\$65,526	\$66,628	\$68,283	\$69,379	\$73,231	\$75,430	\$76,946	\$78,485
Step 10	\$68,283	\$69,379	\$72,141	\$73,231	\$77,085	\$79,398	\$80,994	\$82,615
Step 11	\$69,307	\$70,421	\$73,221	\$74,332	\$78,244	\$80,589	\$82,209	\$83,854
Step 12	\$71,051	\$72,190	\$75,064	\$76,202	\$80,210	\$82,615	\$84,276	\$85,961

2017-2018 School Year

FY'18

	В	B+15	M/B+42	M+15	M+30	M+45	M+60	DOC
Step 1	\$45,155	\$46,278	\$47,980	\$49,107	\$51,364	\$52,902	\$53,967	\$55,045
Step 2	\$47,418	\$48,541	\$50,241	\$51,364	\$54,194	\$55,817	\$56,939	\$58,078
Step 3	\$50,241	\$51,364	\$53,058	\$54,194	\$57,014	\$58,723	\$59,903	\$61,101
Step 4	\$53,058	\$54,186	\$55,879	\$57,014	\$59,838	\$61,636	\$62,874	\$64,131
Step 5	\$55,879	\$57,014	\$58,700	\$59,838	\$62,649	\$64,527	\$65,825	\$67,142
Step 6	\$58,700	\$59,838	\$61,525	\$62,649	\$65,481	\$67,445	\$68,802	\$70,177
Step 7	\$61,525	\$62,649	\$64,341	\$65,475	\$68,298	\$70,349	\$71,764	\$73,201
Step 8	\$64,341	\$65,475	\$67,169	\$68,298	\$71,118	\$73,251	\$74,724	\$76,220
Step 9	\$67,169	\$68,298	\$69,994	\$71,118	\$75,067	\$77,321	\$78,876	\$80,453
Step 10	\$69,994	\$71,118	\$73,950	\$75,067	\$79,017	\$81,389	\$83,025	\$84,687
Step 11	\$71,045	\$72,186	\$75,057	\$76,196	\$80,206	\$82,610	\$84,270	\$85,956
Step 12	\$73,560	\$74,739	\$77,715	\$78,894	\$83,043	\$85,533	\$87,253	\$88,997

0.5% at mic	dpoint							
	В	B+15	M/B+42	M+15	M+30	M+45	M+60	DOC
Step 1	\$45,381	\$46,509	\$48,220	\$49,353	\$51,621	\$53,167	\$54,237	\$55,320
Step 2	\$47,655	\$48,784	\$50,492	\$51,621	\$54,465	\$56,096	\$57,224	\$58,368
Step 3	\$50,492	\$51,621	\$53,323	\$54,465	\$57,299	\$59,017	\$60,203	\$61,407
Step 4	\$53,323	\$54,457	\$56,158	\$57,299	\$60,137	\$61,944	\$63,188	\$64,452
Step 5	\$56,158	\$57,299	\$58,994	\$60,137	\$62,962	\$64,850	\$66,154	\$67,478
Step 6	\$58,994	\$60,137	\$61,833	\$62,962	\$65,808	\$67,782	\$69,146	\$70,528
Step 7	\$61,833	\$62,962	\$64,663	\$65,802	\$68,639	\$70,701	\$72,123	\$73,567
Step 8	\$64,663	\$65,802	\$67,505	\$68,639	\$71,474	\$73,617	\$75,098	\$76,601
Step 9	\$67,505	\$68,639	\$70,344	\$71,474	\$75,442	\$77,708	\$79,270	\$80,855
Step 10	\$70,344	\$71,474	\$74,320	\$75,442	\$79,412	\$81,796	\$83,440	\$85,110
Step 11	\$71,400	\$72,547	\$75,432	\$76,577	\$80,607	\$83,023	\$84,691	\$86,386
Step 12	\$73,928	\$75,113	\$78,104	\$79,288	\$83,458	\$85,961	\$87,689	\$89,442

FY18 cont.

Blended annual rate

	В	B+15	M/B+42	M+15	M+30	M+45	M+60	DOC
Step 1	\$45,268	\$46,394	\$48,100	\$49,230	\$51,493	\$53,035	\$54,102	\$55,183
Step 2	\$47,537	\$48,663	\$50,367	\$51,493	\$54,330	\$55,957	\$57,082	\$58,223
Step 3	\$50,367	\$51,493	\$53,191	\$54,330	\$57,157	\$58,870	\$60,053	\$61,254
Step 4	\$53,191	\$54,322	\$56,019	\$57,157	\$59,988	\$61,790	\$63,031	\$64,292
Step 5	\$56,019	\$57,157	\$58,847	\$59,988	\$62,806	\$64,689	\$65,990	\$67,310
Step 6	\$58,847	\$59,988	\$61,679	\$62,806	\$65,645	\$67,614	\$68,974	\$70,353
Step 7	\$61,679	\$62,806	\$64,502	\$65,639	\$68,469	\$70,525	\$71,944	\$73,384
Step 8	\$64,502	\$65,639	\$67,337	\$68,469	\$71,296	\$73,434	\$74,911	\$76,411
Step 9	\$67,337	\$68,469	\$70,169	\$71,296	\$75,255	\$77,515	\$79,073	\$80,654
Step 10	\$70,169	\$71,296	\$74,135	\$75,255	\$79,215	\$81,593	\$83,233	\$84,899
Step 11	\$71,223	\$72,367	\$75,245	\$76,387	\$80,407	\$82,817	\$84,481	\$86,171
Step 12	\$73,744	\$74,926	\$77,910	\$79,091	\$83,251	\$85,747	\$87,471	\$89,220

Appendix B. Coaching Salary Schedule

HS Athletic Director	2015-2016 \$9,106	2016-2017 \$9,243	2017-2018 \$9,428
HS Faculty Manager	\$3,914	\$3,973	\$4,052
HS Group A	\$8,842	\$8,975	\$9,155
Football Head	# 0.040	00.444	40 5 10
HS Group B	\$6,319	\$6,414	\$6,542
Ice Hockey Head			
Basketball Boys Head			
Basketball Girls Head	#= 100	A= 00=	A= 000
HS Group C	\$5,128	\$5,205	\$5,309
Baseball Head			
Softball Head			
Field Hockey Head			
Lacrosse Head Boys			
Lacrosse Head Girls			
Soccer Boys Head			
Soccer Girls Head			
Track Boys Head			
Track Girls Head			
Cross Country Boys Head			
Cross Country Girls Head			
Volleyball Head Football Assistants			
	¢2.007	¢ 2.064	¢2.044
HS Group D	\$3,807	\$3,864	\$3,941
Tennis Boys Head Tennis Girls Head			
Golf Boys Head Golf Girls Head			
Golf Coed Head			
Basketball Boys Assistants Basketball Girls Assistants			
HS Group E	\$3,159	\$3,206	\$3,270
Baseball Assistants	φ3,139	φ3,200	φ3,270
Softball Assistants			
Field Hockey Assistants			
Lacrosse Boys Assistants			
Lacrosse Girls Assistants			
Soccer Boys Assistants			
Soccer Girls Assistants			
HS Group F	\$2,895	\$2,938	\$2,997
Track Boys Assistants	Ψ2,000	Ψ2,000	Ψ2,007
Track Girls Assistants			
Cross Country Boys Assistants			
Cross Country Girls Assistants			
Ice Hockey Assistants			
Volleyball Assistants			
HS Golf Assistant	\$1,950	\$1,979	\$2,019
	. ,	+ ,	, ,
HS Pep Leaders	\$1,333	\$1,353	\$1,380

HS Cheerleaders	\$1,333	\$1,353	\$1,380
MS Athletic Coordinator	\$2,831	\$2,873	\$2,930
MS Football Head	\$2,363	\$2,398	\$2,446
MS Basketball Boys Head	\$2,363	\$2,398	\$2,446
MS Basketball Boys Assistant	\$2,145	\$2,177	\$2,221
MS Basketball Girls Head	\$2,363	\$2,398	\$2,446
MS Basketball Girls Assistant	\$2,145	\$2,177	\$2,221
MS Football Assistant	\$2,145	\$2,177	\$2,221
MS Soccer Boys Head	\$2,145	\$2,177	\$2,221
MS Soccer Boys Assistant	\$1,933	\$1,962	\$2,001
MS Soccer Girls Head	\$2,145	\$2,177	\$2,221
MS Soccer Girls Assistant	\$1,933	\$1,962	\$2,001
MS FH Soccer Girls Head	\$2,145	\$2,177	\$2,221
MS FH Soccer Girls Assistant	\$1,933	\$1,962	\$2,001
MS Field Hockey Head	\$2,145	\$2,177	\$2,221
MS Field Hockey Assistant	\$1,933	\$1,962	\$2,001
MS Cross Country	\$2,145	\$2,177	\$2,221
MS Baseball Head	\$2,145	\$2,177	\$2,221
MS Baseball Assistant	\$1,933	\$1,962	\$2,001
MS Softball Head	\$2,145	\$2,177	\$2,221
MS Softball Assistant	\$1,933	\$1,962	\$2,001
MS Track Boys Head	\$2,148	\$2,180	\$2,224
MS Track Girls Head	\$2,145	\$2,177	\$2,221
MS Tennis Head	\$2,145	\$2,177	\$2,221
MS Intramurals	\$1,340	\$1,360	\$1,387

Coaching stipends will be prorated in situations where a full season is not completed.

Appendix C. Co-Curricular Salaries

	2015-2016	2016-2017	2017-2018
HS D Y Perspective	\$1,933	\$1,962	\$2,001
HS Interact	\$1,072	\$1,088	\$1,110
HS Key Club	\$1,288	\$1,307	\$1,333
HS Literary Magazine	\$1,288	\$1,307	\$1,333
HS Math Team	\$1,288	\$1,307	\$1,333
HS National Honor Society	\$1,288	\$1,307	\$1,333
HS Ski Club	\$1,288	\$1,307	\$1,333
HS Student Council	\$2,363	\$2,398	\$2,446
HS Writers Forum	\$1,189	\$1,207	\$1,231
HS Yearbook	\$3,562	\$3,615	\$3,687
HS Senior Advisor	\$2,363	\$2,398	\$2,446
HS Junior Advisor	\$1,503	\$1,526	\$1,557
HS Sophomore Advisor	\$964	\$978	\$998
HS Freshman Advisor	\$964	\$978	\$998
HS French Club	\$750	\$761	\$776
HS German Club	\$750	\$761	\$776
HS Spanish Club	\$750	\$761	\$776
HS Drama Director	\$6,053	\$6,144	\$6,267
HS Musical Drama Director	\$1,211	\$1,229	\$1,254
HS One Act Play Director	\$1,844	\$1,872	\$1,909

HS Production Manager	\$2,078	\$2,109	\$2,151
HS Band Director	\$6,319	\$6,414	\$6,542
HS Winter Percussion Director	\$5,128	\$5,205	\$5,309
HS Chorus Director	\$1,153	\$1,170	\$1,193
HS Orchestra Director	\$1,997	\$2,027	\$2,068
HS Flag Corps Advisor	\$460	\$467	\$476
HS Majorette Advisor	\$1,099	\$1,115	\$1,137
HS Peer Leaders Advisor	\$1,287	\$1,306	\$1,332
HS Mock Trials Advisor	\$1,287	\$1,306	\$1,332
HS Art Club Advisor	\$750	\$761	\$776
HS SADD Advisor	\$750	\$761	\$776
HS ALGSS Advisor	\$1,905	\$1,934	\$1,973
HS Coordinator of Co- Curricular Activities			
HS Band Assistant	\$5,128	\$5,205	\$5,309
HS Leo Advisor	\$1,071	\$1,087	\$1,109
HS DI Advisor	\$749	\$760	\$775
HS Technology Club Advisor	\$749	\$760	\$775
HS Ambassadors Advisor	\$1,275	\$1,294	\$1,320
MS Theater Director	\$2,887	\$2,930	\$2,989
MS Asst. Theater Director	\$1,523	\$1,546	\$1,577
MS Theater Music Advisor	\$1,523	\$1,546	\$1,577
MS Production Manager	\$1,523	\$1,546	\$1,577
MS Ambassadors Advisor	\$743	\$754	\$769
MS Grade 8 Advisor	\$2,363	\$2,398	\$2,446
MS Math Team	\$1,189	\$1,207	\$1,231
MS School Paper	\$1,783	\$1,810	\$1,846
MS Yearbook	\$1,189	\$1,207	\$1,231
MS Literary Magazine	\$1,650	\$1,675	\$1,709
MS Ski Club	\$750	\$761	\$776
MS Peer Leaders Advisor	\$750	\$761	\$776
MS Student Council	\$750	\$761	\$776
MS DI Advisors (2)	\$749	\$760	\$775
MS Technology Club Advisors (2)	\$749	\$760	\$775
Elementary Destination Imagination Advisor	\$749	\$760	\$775

(one advisor per elementary school, if needed)

The incumbent in the ALGSS advisor position shall be grandfathered at the current stipendiary rate (the 2006-2007 contract rate) for as long as that individual continues to hold the position. At such time as the incumbent steps down, the stipend for this position will revert to the equivalent of those positions listed in the 2006-2007 contract at a stipendiary rate of \$651.00, plus any percentage increases that may have applied in any succeeding years.

The parties agree that building principals may establish clubs/teams that they believe are appropriate for the buildings, subject to the following requirement: the stipend for any new position must first be negotiated between the Committee and the Association. Upon agreeing on a stipend, the new position will be subject to a Memorandum of Agreement between the Association and the Committee.

Appendix D. Differentials

Effective September 1, 2011 and thereafter, anyone hired to fill a position set forth in this appendix (Guidance Counselors, Adjustment Counselors, School Psychologists, Home-School Counselors, Early Childhood Coordinators, English Language Learner Coordinators, Special Education Team Chairs, Technology Coordinators, Social Workers, high school guidance counselors and middle school team chairs), shall work one hundred ninety-seven (197) days. Any employees hired on or after September 1, 2011, shall be paid during the next feasible pay cycle and shall be paid their per diem rate for each day in excess of one hundred eighty-five (185) days. All employees under this appendix shall obtain the advance approval from their building principal prior to working days in excess of one hundred eighty-five (185). All employees in this appendix shall submit requests to their building principal in advance of working the days and shall receive approval from their building principal prior to working the days except in emergency situations. Any employees hired to fill a position set forth in this appendix prior to September 1, 2011 shall be grandfathered and shall continue to receive the stipend set forth herein.

	<u>2015-2016</u>	<u>2016-2017</u>	<u>2017-2018</u>
Counselors, etc. 1.0 FTE	\$6,840	\$6,840	\$6,977
Early Education Coordinator	\$6,840	\$6,840	\$6,977
ELE Coordinator	\$6,840	\$6,840	\$6,977
Reading Recovery Teacher Leader	\$6,840	\$6,840	\$6,977

At any school with more than 500 students, where the school has both a full-time school psychologist and a full-time special education team chair, both individuals will continue to receive the full differential. It is understood that the same individual cannot receive the differential twice. At schools with fewer than 500 students, where both the team chair and the school psychologist are full-time, the differential and additional days will be split equally between the two.

Department Heads and Team Leaders

The differentials set forth below for department heads and team leaders are in recognition of the extra time and responsibility required to administer the respective departments and teams under the supervision of the building principal.

Team Leaders serving as high school department chairs will work six (6) days beyond the contractual work year of bargaining unit members. Elementary and Middle School team leaders will work five (5) days beyond the contractual work year of bargaining unit members. Department heads shall have a work year of 191 days. Elementary and Middle School Team leaders shall have a work year of 190 days. A minimum of three (3) of these additional days will be for summer leadership training. All department heads and team leaders shall participate in annual summer leadership training. Training shall be provided at no cost to department heads or team leaders and PDPs will be awarded for work performed.

	2015-	2016-	2017-
	2016	2017	2018
Department Head 14 or more	\$6,430	\$6,430	\$6,559
Department Head 10 to 13	\$5,979	\$5,979	\$6,099
Department Head 6 to 9	\$5,126	\$5,126	\$5,229
Department Head 5 or less	\$4,271	\$4,271	\$4,356
Alternative Education Director	\$5,979	\$5,979	\$6,099
K-8 Team Leader	\$3,214	\$3,214	\$3,278
HS Team Leader	\$1,071	\$1,071	\$1,092
Regional Responsibilities	\$500	\$500	\$510

^{*}As long as the individual is not also receiving a team leader stipend or an academic coaching stipend.

High school department heads shall receive an additional team leader differential for serving on the district Teaching and Learning Council (TLC) and for leading district content team meetings.

Workshop Presenters

- A. When a teacher is asked to volunteer as a "Workshop Presenter" for at least half-day in length, the teacher will be provided with thirty (30) days' notice whenever possible.
- B. Teachers who participate in developing/creating workshops for professional development activities in the district at the request of the administration during the work day as "Workshop Presenters" will receive one (1) hour of preparation time for preparation outside the regular work day for every hour of workshop presentation at the hourly rate listed in Appendix E based upon a three (3) hour session, unless preparation for the workshop is part of the employee's regular job.

Appendix E. Other Items

Curriculum Study Hour Stipend	\$31.00
Extra Class Teaching Stipend Per Hour	\$31.00
Driver Education Per Hour	\$31.00
Sick Leave Buy Back	\$37.00

Appendix F.

Using Course Reimbursement Accounts for Workshops to Earn PDPs or CEUs:

Guidelines for those recertifying:

- The PDPs should be directly related to the licensure renewal categories
- The workshop should be connected to District and School Improvement Goals and be stated on the IPDP's. To monitor this, a copy of the signed IPDP goals should be submitted with the workshop request form.

- The funds should only be used for registration *reimbursement*, not for travel, food or lodging.
- In all cases, grant funds should be used first (i.e. Early Literacy Grant pays for the Reading Recovery conferences)
- Individuals will only be allowed one registration per year for reimbursement to limit the amount of substitute money that is necessary in these situations, unless decided otherwise by the Superintendent or Director of Instruction
- Workshops cannot be substituted for the course requirement obligations for completion of a qualifying course

For those who are working toward a professional license:

• Funds can be used for approved DESE programs related to coursework in an approved performance review program (i.e. Class measures)

Funds used in the stated ways would not be eligible for horizontal movement on the salary schedule.